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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 001-35480
Enphase Energy, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)
Delaware 20-4645388
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
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(707) 774-7000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:
Title of each class: Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share TheDMKB Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405coBé#turities Act. Yedd No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yedd No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 dayass ¥ No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this ¢bgpduring the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). YBd No O



Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 1l of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10K,

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maocelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgfe Act). Yedl No

The aggregate market value of the voting stock hgldon-affiliates of the registrant on June 30,20based upon the closing price of $7.7
the registrant’'s common stock as reported on th& NAQ Global Market, was approximately 113.1 millioBxcludes approximately 27.1
million shares of the registrant’'s common stocldh®}t current executive officers, directors, anddeo$ of five percent or more of the
outstanding common stock in that such persons realekmed to be affiliates. This determination &fiate status is not necessarily a
conclusive determination for other purposes.

As of February 28, 2014 , there were 42,236,85%shaf the registrant’'s common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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PART |

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwambking statements” as defined under securities ldwsward-looking statements
include statements that are not historical factd aan be identified by terms such as “anticipatégglieves,” “could,” “seeks,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “i may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would” or  similar expressions and the negatives

” o ” o ” ow ” w ”

intends,
of those terms. These forward-looking statemergscantained principally in Item 1, Business; Itef Risk Factors; Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition delsults of Operations; and other sections of tmeual Report on Form -K. Our actual
results or experience could differ significantlgrr the forward-looking statements. Factors thatid@ause or contribute to these differences
include those discussed in Item 1A, Risk Fact@syell as those discussed elsewhere in this AriRepbrt on Form 10-K.

Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertaimd you should not place undue reliance on thegersents, which speak only as of
the date that they were made. These cautionargragts should be considered in connection withnaitten or oral forward-looking
statements that we may issue in the future. Weotlondertake any obligation to release publicly aayisions to these forward-looking
statements after completion of the filing of thisyAal Report on Form 10-K to reflect later eventgiocumstances or to reflect the occurrence
of unanticipated events.

In this report, unless otherwise indicated or thietext otherwise requires, “Enphase Energy,” “Ergghia‘the Company,” “we,” “us,”
and “our” refer to Enphase Energy, Inc., a Delavamgoration, and its subsidiaries.

Item 1. Business
Our Company

We deliver microinverter technology for the soladustry that increases energy production, simglifiesign and installation, improves
system uptime and reliability, reduces fire saféti and provides a platform for intelligent energgnagement. Our semiconductor-based
microinverter system converts direct current (DIgx#icity to alternating current (AC) electricisi the individual solar module level, and
brings a system-based, high technology approashléw energy generation leveraging our design ¢iggesicross power electronics,
semiconductors, networking and embedded and webdbastware technologies. We are the market leiadée microinverter category and
have grown rapidly. Since our first commercial shgnt in mid-2008, we have sold approximately 4.llioni microinverters as of December
31, 2013, which represents over 1.2 gigawatt (M@).were the first company to commercially ship miieverter systems in volume. We
currently offer microinverter systems targeting tasidential and commercial markets in the UnitedeSS, Canada, the United Kingdom,
France, the Benelux region, certain other Europearkets and Australia.

We were incorporated as PVI Solutions, Inc. in N#a2006 in the State of Delaware and changed ouerniarBnphase Energy, Inc. in
July 2007.

Industry Background

Historically, traditional central inverters haveebethe only inverter technology used for solar ptioltaic, or PV installations. In an
installation consisting of a traditional centralénter, the solar PV modules are connected insstitngs. In a large installation, there are
multiple series strings connected in parallel. Abgregated voltage from each of these stringseis fibd into a large central inverter. As
compared to microinverter systems, we believettiaalitional central inverters have a number of giesind performance challenges limiting
innovation and their ability to reduce the cossolar systems, including the following:

. Productivity limits. If solar modules are wired using a traditionaitcal inverter—group or “string” of modules are &drin
series—an entire string's output is limited by dlagput of the lowest-performing module. Becausiso$tring design, there is a
single point of failure risk with the traditionagwtral inverter approach.

. Reliability issues. Traditional central inverters are the single ntmshmon component of solar installations to fakulting in
system downtime and adversely impacting total gnetdput. As a result, central inverters typicalfrry warranties of only 5 to
10 years.

. Complex design and installation requirement$e central invertelpased solar PV installation requires greater etinrthe part ¢

the installer, both in terms of design and on-sib®r. Central inverter installations require sirotesign and calculations for safe
and reliable operation, as well as specializedpgant such as DC combiners, conduits and discosinecaddition, the use of
high-voltage DC requires specialized knowledge tagithing and safety precautions to install ceritraérter technology.
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. Lack of monitorin¢. The majority of solar installations with centinaverter technology offer limited monitoring capiigs. A
failure of the central inverter will often go uniegd for days or even weeks. If a module failssomot performing to specification,
the resulting loss of energy can go unnoticed foexended period of time.

. Safety issuesCentral inverter solar PV installations have dendistribution of high-voltage (600 volts in thaitéd States and
1,000 volts in Europe) DC wiring. If damaged, DGesi can generate sustained electrical arcs, reatdimperatures of more than
5,000 °F. This creates the risk of fire for sol&fiRstallation owners and injury for installers amaintenance personnel.

These challenges of traditional central invertergeha direct impact on the cost and expected retuinvestment of solar installations
both installers and system owners:

. Installer. Solar PV installers aim for simple installatiomsifyn, fast installation times and maximum systemfigpgmance and
predictability. The installation of high-voltage Dxéntral inverter technology, however, requiresigicant preparation,
precautionary safety measures, time-consuminggstatculations, extensive design expertise andizlzsd installation
equipment, training and knowledge. Together, thiastrs significantly increase complexity and oofSinstallation and limit
overall productivity for the installer.

. System ownerSolar system owners aim for high energy productiow cost, high reliability and low maintenaneguirements,
as well as reduced fire risks. With traditional ttahinverters, owners often are unable to optintiwesize or shape of their solar
PV installations due to string design limitatioAs. such, they experience performance loss fromisgahd other obstructions,
can face frequent system failures and lack thetylbdl effectively monitor the performance of thewolar PV installation. In
addition, central inverter installations operatéigh-voltage DC which bears significant fire risksirther, due to their large size,
central inverter installations can affect architeal aesthetics of the house or commercial building

Our Products

We design, develop, manufacture and sell a micestav system for the solar PV industry. We havét finam the ground up a
semiconductor-based microinverter system that atsemergy at the individual solar module level,asaimbined with our proprietary
networking and software technologies, provides aded energy monitoring and control. This is vadifferent than the central inverter
approach that can only convert energy of the eatirgy of solar modules from a single high voltaggetrical unit, and lacks intelligence about
the energy producing capacity of the solar array.

Our microinverter solution brings a system-baségh kechnology approach to solar energy generdéioeraging our design expertise
across power electronics, semiconductors, netwgrkind embedded and web-based software technal@iesnicroinverter system consists
of three key components: our Enphase microinvellievpy communications gateway and Enlighten welethasftware:

. Our Enphase microinverter delivers efficient aelihble power conversion at the individual setaxdule level by introducing a
digital architecture that incorporates custom agpion specific integrated circuits, or ASICs, spbred power electronics
devices and an embedded software subsystem thatizgs energy production from each module and mesiétge core ASIC
functions. A residential solar installation typiyatonsists of 5 to 50 microinverters; a small coananal solar installation typicall
consists of 50 to 500 microinverters; and a mediudarger commercial solar installation typicallynsists of 500 to 10,000
microinverters, or more.

. Our Envoy communications gateway is installethi;nsystem owner's home or business and sengesetsvorking hub that
collects data from the microinverter array and sethé information to our hosted data center. Onmizis typically sold with
each solar installation and can support up to 5@thBse microinverters.

. Our Enlighten web-based software collects aralyaes this information to enable system owneradaitor and realize the
highest performance of their solar PV system. litaah, Enlighten also provides an online portaéafically designed for
installers to enable them to track and managef éifieor Enphase enabled projects and monitor aadl/ae the performance of
their installed systems.

Together, our Enphase microinverter, Envoy commatiios gateway and Enlighten web-based softwaretiimas a single unified
system that enhances energy production, simpliféstgn and installation, reduces costs, increastem uptime and reliability, reduces fire
safety risk and provides the ability to monitorfpemance in real-time. With an Enphase microinuestestem, we believe solar system owners
can achieve a higher return on investment ovelifgtéme of the solar system than would be achiewsitig a traditional central inverter
approach.
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Key elements of our solution include:

Productive-Superior Energy Productio@ur microinverter system enables the maximum ptessibergy production from
each module, overcoming a fundamental design ltraiteof central inverters which are limited by tbe/est performing module.
We believe that our microinverter systems achigglér energy production and can generate supegiarms on investment relati
to central inverter solutions for system owners.

Reliable-Longer Life and No Single Point of FailuReduction of component count, primarily through ssmductor
integration in our microinverter, allows us to dgsa reliable system that can withstand harsh enmiental conditions. In additic
because we process low voltages and power lewaigamponents experience less stress and lastritimye traditional central
inverters. Furthermore, the distributed architexziirour microinverter system translates into greaystem uptime. If a
microinverter unit fails, it results in lost energgoduction from a single solar module only andthetentire array. In addition, we
offer a limited warranty of up to 25 years on oucminverters.

Simple-Ease of Design and Installatiddsing microinverter technology, an installer casige a system of any size and
any roof configuration with a simple modular apmioaAfter initial installation, the system can sy expanded by even a single
module. Our single inverter per module approactveds directly to AC and enables a simpler, all @€3ign, eliminating the extra
cost, training and complexity associated with tgpligh voltage DC implementation. Without thesenptexities, installation of
microinverter technology is greatly simplified, inoping installers' productivity. This also enabéesew class of solar installer,
such as electricians and general contractors. lijrmalr microinverters are installed on the roofl dmidden from view, with minime
impact to the aesthetics of a home or building.

Smart-Module-Level Monitoring and Analyti€3ur microinverter system allows us to collect eggrgpduction
information in real time on a per solar module ba%his enables powerful system analytics and allBwphase to offer installers
visibility into how systems are performing and #i#lity to continuously optimize energy productianich is particularly importa
when operating commercial solar installations. Sagtvices include system performance and diagrspdtenchmarking, as well as
system and module alerts and fault statistics.

Safe-“All AC” Solution.Microinverters are safer because they process IBwaltages relative to central inverters. High
voltage arc faults associated with traditional carinverter are the leading cause of fires of sSBM installations. Microinverter
technology mitigates this safety risk.

Due to the benefits of our solution, we believaasatstallers achieve greater productivity and cetitipe differentiation over installers
traditional central inverter solar PV installatipasd the solar system owner achieves a highemretuinvestment with an Enphase
microinverter system over the life of the solartegs

Our Strategy

Our objective is to continue to be the leading e of microinverter systems for the solar indysworidwide and to accelerate the s
from traditional central inverters to microinvertechnology. Key elements of our strategy include:

. Continue to Penetrate Our Core Markeéfge intend to capitalize on our market leadershifhénmicroinverter category and our
momentum with installers and owners to expand carkat share position in our core U.S. market.

. Enter New Geographic MarkeiWe intend to further increase our market shareuirofe and Australia. In addition, we intend to
expand into new markets with new and existing pet&land local go-to-market capabilities.

. Increase Power and Efficiency and Reduce Cost @t.'Our engineering team is focused on continuing ¢osiase average
power conversion efficiency above 96.5% and AC ougower beyond 250 watts. We intend to continueverage our
semiconductor integration, power electronics exgernd manufacturing economies of scale to furtbduce cost per watt.

. Extend Our Technological InnovaticWe distinguish ourselves from other inverter conigamwith our system- based and high-
tech approach, and the ability to leverage stresgarch and development capabilities. As of DeceBhe2013 , we had 36
issued U.S. patents, 11 issued non-U.S. patenise@fing U.S. patent applications and 139 pendamgUh.S. counterpart patent
applications .

. Expand Our Product Offering for Commercial Instaites and Utility-Scale InstallationswWe intend to expand our product
offering by introducing new microinverter systeraggeted at larger commercial installations and
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utility-scale installations. We expect these masgagments to become a significant revenue oppayttori us in the future.

. Develop a Software Management PlatfoWe intend to build upon our strong position asléaling supplier of microinverter
systems to develop additional energy managemevitesrfor our growing network of solar installersndwide.

Customers and Sales

We currently offer microinverter systems targetihg residential and commercial markets in the Wn8&ates, Canada, the United
Kingdom, France, the Benelux region, certain ofigiopean markets and Australia. We sell our mia@iter systems primarily to solar
distributors who resell to installers and integratevho in turn integrate our products into complatlar PV installations for residential and
commercial system owners. We work with many ofl&aling solar distributors. In 2013, Vivint Solar¢., CED Greentech and Focused
Energy, Inc. accounted for 15%, 14% and 11% ol twéarevenues, respectively. In addition to owstrithutors, we sell directly to large
installers, OEMs and strategic partners. Our OEBtamuers include solar module manufacturers who leumar products and solutions with
their solar module products and resell to bothrithistors and installers. Strategic partners incladeriety of companies and arrangements,
including industrial equipment suppliers and prev&lof solar financing solutions. We also sellEmphase-branded product directly to
electrical contractor distributors in North Ameri¢distorically, revenues generated from the U.Stketshave represented more than 80% of
our business, with the remainder from Canada, Eueopl Australia.

Manufacturing, Quality Control and Key Suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our productsvokey manufacturing partners, Flextronics Inteéoral Ltd. and Phoenix Contact
GmbH & Co. KG. Flextronics assembles and testsxuaroinverter pursuant to a manufacturing servag®ement. Prices for such service:
mutually agreed to by the parties on a quartergishand we are obligated to purchase manufactucatlipts and raw materials that cannot be
resold upon the termination of the agreement. Fdexts' assembly and test plants for our produetdacated in Fuyong, China, and New
Market, Ontario, Canada. Flextronics also provige®iving, Kitting, storage, transportation, imagtvisibility and other value-added logistics
services at locations managed by Flextronics putsioaa logistics services agreement. Phoenix naaurfes our custom AC cable pursuant tc
a cooperation agreement. Phoenix's facilities@atéd in Poland and China. In addition, we relseveral unaffiliated companies to supply
certain components used in the fabrication of olgremverter system.

Customer Service

We maintain high levels of customer engagementutitamur customer support group and the Enlighten-based software portal, and
have cultivated an organizational focus on custasaésfaction. Our dedicated customer support gfoapses on responding to inbound
inquiries regarding any of our products and sesiiées of December 31, 2013, our customer suppafftnsisted of 55 employees in the
United States and 10 employees in Europe.

In addition, customized support programs are bdmgloped for selected OEM partners, large direstailers and distributors to help
prioritize and track support issues for key pawreerd to provide a single point of contact.

Research and Development

We devote substantial resources to research aredagenent with the objective of developing new pradiwand systems, adding new
features to existing products and systems and neglumit costs of our Enphase microinverter syst@or. development strategy is to identify
features, products and systems for both softwadehandware that reduce the cost and optimize fleetéfeness of our microinverter solutions
for our customers. We measure the effectivenessiofesearch and development against metrics,dmguproduct unit cost, efficiency,
reliability, power output and ease-of-use. As otBaber 31, 2013, our research and developmefitcsiasisted of 162 employees, of whom
140 were located in the United States and the mesheaiprimarily located in New Zealand.

Our research and development expenses were $34idnmi$35.6 million and $25.1 million for the yesaended December 31, 2013 ,
2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends, in part, on our ability tontaa and protect our proprietary technologies.rélg primarily on patent, trademark,
copyright and trade secrets laws in the UnitedeStand similar laws in other countries, confiddityimgreements and procedures and other
contractual arrangements to protect our technoldgyof December 31, 2013 , we had 36 issued Utenpg 11 issued non-U.S. patents, 80
pending U.S. patent applications and 139 pendimguh&. counterpart patent applications . Our isquagdnts are scheduled to expire betweer
years 2027 and 203

We license certain power line communications tetdmoand software for integration into our ASICgguant to a fully-paid, royalty-
free license, which includes the right for us tarse directly from the licensor’s suppliers or miauture

5




Table of Contents

certain ASIC hardware should the licensor fail, emcertain conditions, to deliver such technolagthie future. This license includes a limited
exclusivity period during which the licensor hasesgl not to license the licensed technology tothingl party manufacturer of electronic
components or systems for use in the solar eneagikah The license carries a seventy-five year tethject to earlier termination upon
mutual agreement of the parties, or by us in caimeaevith the insolvency of the licensor.

We also license digital intellectual property comsIP blocks, for integration into and distritartiwith certain electronic components
built into our products, including our ASICs, corplprogrammable logic devices, or CPLDs, and figlolgrammable gate arrays, or FPGAs.
This is a fully-paid, non-exclusive, non-transféiea royalty-free license providing for the intetipa of such digital IP blocks in an unlimited
number of electronic component designs and thellision of such electronic components with ourdarcts. Other than in connection with -
distribution of our products, our use of such @ifiP blocks is limited to certain of our businsgies. The license is perpetual, subject to earlie
termination by either party upon the terminatiargmension or insolvency of the other party’s bussner by the licensor upon a breach of the
license agreement by us. In addition, we licensnaource software from third parties for integnainto our Envoy products. Such open
source software is licensed under open sourcedgemhese licenses are perpetual and requireatsitaute the source of the software to the
original software developer, which we provide via website.

We continually assess appropriate occasions fairsg@atent protection for those aspects of ounretogy, designs and methodologies
and processes that we believe provide significantpetitive advantages. A majority of our patentatesto DC to AC power conversion for
alternative energy power systems, as well as pey&em monitoring, control and management systems.

With respect to, among other things, proprietargvkihow that is not patentable and processes fochwbatents are difficult to enforce,
we rely on trade secret protection and confideitialgreements to safeguard our interests. We\metigat many elements of our microinverter
manufacturing process involve proprietary know-htaehnology or data that are not covered by patngstent applications, including
technical processes, test equipment designs, tigmwiand procedures.

All of our research and development personnel leaered into confidentiality and proprietary infation agreements with us. These
agreements address intellectual property prote@gues and require our employees to assign tb akthe inventions, designs and
technologies they develop during the course of eympént with us.

We also require our customers and business patimerger into confidentiality agreements beforediselose any sensitive aspects of
our microinverter, technology or business plans.
Seasonality

Historically, sales of our products in the secdhi@d and fourth quarters have been positivelyciéid by seasonal customer demand
trends, including solar economic incentives, weaagterns and construction cycles, followed bgassnally softer first quarter . Although

these seasonal factors are common in the solarséittorical patterns should not be consideregliable indicator of our future sales activity
or performance.

Competition

The markets for our products are highly competjtared we compete both with walktablished traditional central inverter manufaats
and new technology start-ups. The principal areashich we compete with other companies include:

. Product performance and featu
. Total cost of ownership (usually measured by |leeslicost of electricity, or LCOE

. Breadth of product lin:

. Local sales and distribution capabiliti

. Module compatibility and interoperabili

. Reliability and duration of product warrar

. Technological expertis

. Brand recognition and customer service and sug

. Compliance with industry standards and certifiaadiand local electrical cot
. Size and financial stability of operatio

. Size of installed base; a
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. Local manufacturing and product cont

Currently, competitors in the inverter market rafrgen large, international companies such as SMRISbechnology AG, Fronius
International GmbH and Power-One, Inc. to emergimigpanies offering alternative microinverter orestholar electronics products. We
principally compete with the large, incumbent sateerter companies because traditional centradritev solutions can be used as alternatives
to our microinverter solution. We believe, howewbat our microinverter solutions offer significaadvantages and competitive differentiation
relative to traditional central inverter technologyen when traditional central inverter technoliggupplemented by DC-to-DC optimizers.
SMA Solar Technology AG and Power-One Inc. havemndy introduced or announced plans to introduceramverter products. In addition,
several new entrants to the microinverter markeehacently announced plans to ship or have alrshiyped products, including some of our
OEM customers and partners.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 398 employeeth@full-time employees, 161 were engaged in rebeand development, 156 in
sales and marketing, 50 in a general and admitii@reapacity and 31 in manufacturing and operati@f these employees, 338 were in the
United States, 34 in Europe, 19 in New Zealandr, fio\ustralia, two in Canada and one employeehimg&.

None of our U.S., New Zealand, U.K. and Austratigpéoyees are represented by a labor union witheedp his or her employment
with us; however, our employees in France and kadyrepresented by a collective bargaining agraendée have not experienced any
employment-related work stoppages, and we consigierelations with our employees to be good.

Available Information

We file electronically with the U.S. Securities d@dchange Commission, or SEC, our annual reportSsasm 10K, quarterly reports ¢
Form 10-Q, current reports on FornkK8and amendments to those reports filed or fuedsbursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Séee
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchamge\e make available on our websitenatw.enphase.corfunder “Investord=inancia
Information-SEC Filings”)free of charge, copies of these reports as soseaas®nably practicable after filing these reporith vor furnishing
them to, the SEC.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We have identified the following risks and uncaettiais that may have a material adverse effect arbasiness, financial condition or
results of operations. The risks described belogvraot the only ones we face. Additional risks mesently known to us or that we currently
believe are not material may also significantly aimpur business operations. Our business coultidoened by any of these risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due toa@these risks, and you may lose all or part ofryinuestment. In assessing these risks,
should also refer to the other information contaire this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including mansolidated financial statements and
related notes.

We have a history of losses which may continuehe future, and we cannot be certain that we willlaeve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred net losses in each quarter simeegption, and we may continue to incur additiorellasses in the future. We incurred
net losses of $25.9 million , $38.2 million and $Btillion for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectivélg.of December 31, 2013 , we had an
accumulated deficit of $152.9 million . Our revergrewth may slow or revenue may decline for a nundb@ossible reasons, many of which
are outside our control, including a decline in dehfor our offerings, increased competition, arélase in the growth of the solar industry or
our market share, or our failure to continue toitedipe on growth opportunities. If we fail to geate sufficient revenue to support our
operations, we may not be able to achieve or suptaffitability.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our current business and future prospects

We have been in existence since 2006 and did mt Ishipping our products in commercial quantitiesil mid-2008. Much of our
growth has occurred in recent periods. Our limdpdrating history makes it difficult to evaluater aurrent business and future prospects. We
have encountered and will continue to encounté&srand difficulties frequently experienced by grogicompanies in rapidly changing
industries, including increased expenses as wentanto grow our business. If we do not managestiisks and overcome these difficulties
successfully, our business will suffer.

Since we began commercial shipments of our prodoatsrevenue, gross profit and results of openatitave varied and are likely to
continue to vary from quarter to quarter due taimber of factors, many of which are not within eontrol. It is difficult for us to accurately
forecast our future revenue and gross profit and pkpenses accordingly and, therefore, it isdliffifor us to predict our future results of
operations.

Further, our efforts to achieve broader market pizaee for our microinverter systems and to exgaynd our existing markets may
never succeed, which would adversely impact oditabd generate additional revenue or become mabfe.

If demand for solar energy solutions does not canté to grow or grows at a slower rate than we argate, our business will suffel

Our microinverter systems are utilized in solartpkoltaic, or PV, installations, which provide oresdistributed power generation. As a
result, our future success depends on continuecui@rior solar energy solutions and the abilitya&sequipment vendors to meet this
demand. The solar industry is an evolving indutiiat has experienced substantial changes in rgeans, and we cannot be certain that
consumers and businesses will adopt solar PV sgsisnan alternative energy source at levels seiffidd grow our business. Traditional
electricity distribution is based on the regulatedlistry model whereby businesses and consumeaiabeir electricity from a government
regulated utility. For alternative methods of dmtted power to succeed, businesses and consunustsadopt new purchasing practices. The
viability and continued growth in demand for s@aergy solutions, and in turn, our products, mainiacted by many factors outside of our
control, including:

. market acceptance of solar PV systems based oproduct platfornm

. cost competitiveness, reliability and performant solar PV systems compared to conventionahamndsolar renewable energy
sources and products;

. availability and amount of government subsidiad incentives to support the development and gemat of solar energy
solutions;

. the extent to which the electric power industng broader energy industries are deregulatedrinipleroader adoption of solar

electricity generation;
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. the cost and availability of key raw materials aochponents used in the production of solar PV sys

. prices of traditional carbobased energy sourc

. levels of investment by engsers of solar energy products, which tend to dserevhen economic growth slows;

. the emergence, continuance or success of, mrdeed government support for, other alternatieegygngeneration technologies

and products.

If demand for solar energy solutions fails to depedufficiently, demand for our customers' prodastsvell as demand for our products
will decrease, which would have an adverse impaaiwr ability to increase our revenue and growhusiness.

Short-term demand and supply imbalances, espeéalgolar module technology, recently have caysezks for solar technology
solutions to decline rapidly. Furthermore, comjpatitin the solar industry has increased due t@thergence of Asian manufacturers along th
entire solar value chain causing further price ides|, excess inventory and oversupply. These mdikriptions may continue to occur and
may increase pressure to reduce prices, which @auludrsely affect our business and financial result

The reduction, elimination or expiration of governemt subsidies and economic incentives for on-gradas electricity applications could
reduce demand for solar PV systems and harm ouribess.

The market for orgrid applications, where solar power is used tgirpent a customer's electricity purchased fromuthigy network ot
sold to a utility under tariff, depends in largetpan the availability and size of government andremic incentives that vary by geographic
market. Because our customers' sales are typicadiythe on-grid market, the reduction, eliminatmmexpiration of government subsidies and
economic incentives for on-grid solar electricitpymegatively affect the competitiveness of solectecity relative to conventional and non-
solar renewable sources of electricity, and coualdrhor halt the growth of the solar electricityuistty and our business.

In general, the cost of solar power currently egseetail electricity rates, and we believe thisdency will continue in the near term. As
a result, national, state and local governmentdsonhi many countries, most notably Australia, Can&tance, Belgium, Germany, Italy, Jaf
the People's Republic of China, the United Kingd&main and the United States, have provided ineesiin the form of feed-in tariffs, or
FiTs, rebates, tax credits and other incentivesystem owners, distributors, system integratorsraadufacturers of solar PV systems to
promote the use of solar electricity in on-grid laggiions and to reduce dependency on other fofmremergy. Many of these government
incentives expire, phase out over time, termingtenithe exhaustion of the allocated funding, rexjuénewal by the applicable authority or are
being amended by governments due to changing mairkeimstances or changes to national, state ai tergy policy.

Electric utility companies or generators of elagtyi from other non-solar renewable sources oftelgty may successfully lobby for
changes in the relevant legislation in their magkbat are harmful to the solar industry. Redudtion or eliminations or expirations of,
governmental incentives in regions that we focussales efforts could result in decreased demandrfd lower revenue from solar PV
systems there, which would adversely affect sal@sioproducts. In addition, our ability to sucdedly penetrate new geographic markets may
depend on new countries adopting and maintainiogritives to promote solar electricity, to the ekgarch incentives are not currently in pl
Additionally, electric utility companies may estshl pricing structures or interconnection requirataghat could adversely affect our sales an
be harmful to the solar and distributed rooftosgieneration industry.

Our focus on a limited number of specific marketscreases risks associated with the elimination apiation of governmental subsidies
and economic incentives for on-grid solar electtigiapplications.

To date, we have generated substantially all oireuenues from North America and expect to genexatghstantial amount of revenues
from North America in the future. There are a numiifamportant incentives that are expected to pkms or terminate in the future, which
could adversely affect sales of our products. Astarfttial majority of our revenues come from thetelhiStates, which has both federal and
state incentives. The Renewable Energy and JohiGmeact of 2008 provides a 30% federal tax créalitresidential and commercial solar
installations, which expire on December 31, 2016 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2683 mended, created a renewable
energy grant program that offered cash paymenisurof investment tax credits to renewable engngject developers for eligible property
placed in service prior to December 31, 2011 ocqdan service by the specified credit terminatiate, if construction began prior to
December 31, 2011. We believe the tax credit andtgsrograms have had a positive effect on oussatee inception.
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However, unless the tax credit program is furthéemded, the eventual phaget of this program could adversely affect saleswfproducts i
the future.

California is the largest single solar market ia thnited States, based on analysis from SEIA dadaGIM Research, and a significant
portion of our revenues are generated in Califorim&007, the State of California launched itsyg@r, $3 billion “Go Solar California”
campaign, which encourages the installation ofggregate of 3,000 MW of solar energy systems indsand businesses by the end of 2016
The largest part of the campaign, the “Californida$ Initiative,” provides rebates and performabesed incentives which decrease in inte
as installation thresholds are met. The “Go SoHif@nia” program is scheduled to expire on Decentkil, 2016, but the pace of installations
has been high and the program is likely to conchkater. Both Pacific Gas and Electric and San ®{&gs and Electric have surpassed all
installation thresholds in the residential sectat are no longer accepting applications. Pacifis &ad Electric is placing all new applications
for the commercial sector on a waiting list, anelsia applications may not be able to receive incestiPrograms for other utilities and market
segments continue, but could conclude prior to Bemr 31, 2016 if installations continue at theirrent pace.

We also sell our products in Ontario, Canada. Th&afib Power Authority Green Energy and Green Eaondct of 2009 created two
separate FiT programs for projects greater thamlakd for projects less than 10kW. These FiT pnograrovide participants with a fixed
price for electricity produced over a §@ar contract term. Both programs were recentlpanded while they underwent a review. The prog
for projects less than 10kW was re-opened to nedliGgtions in July 2012 with a procurement targeb@ MW. The program for projects
between 10kW and 500kW was re-opened for new agtjgits between December 14, 2012 and January 18,\ith a procurement target of
200 MW. The Government of Ontario has announcedsplar annual procurement targets of 50MW of prigjemder 10kW and 150MW of
projects between 10kW and 500kW through 2017. Hewneall procurement occurs at the direction of@myernment of Ontario and these
plans could change, or market conditions couldlt@sgprocurement targets not being met. Furtheemtite Government of Ontario has the
authority to change the FiTs for future contra¢tgsadiscretion, and has the authority to modsfyspend, or discontinue the program at any
time. Suspension of the FiT program in Ontario alyeimpacted and could continue to impact our bess. Furthermore, any future suspen
or modification of the program could negativelyeaff our business, financial condition and resulzperations.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, we began sellinggnaducts in France, Italy and the Benelux regiauring the second quarter of 2012,
opened a sales office in the United Kingdom andabeggelling our products there at the beginnindhefthird quarter. A number of European
countries, including Germany, Belgium and the Whikéngdom, have adopted reductions to their Fifmi®announced a suspension of its
for new renewable energy projects in January 20tRl@ly concluded its FiT program in July 2013 r@m countries, notably Greece and
Spain, have proposed or enacted taxes levied @wadsie energy. These and related developmentsdigividicantly impacted the solar
industry in Europe and may adversely affect tharilemand for the solar energy solutions in Eurdpe reductions in European tariffs and
subsidies and other requirements or incentivefydig local content requirements or incentivesehaegatively affected and may continue to
negatively affect our business, financial conditiomd results of operations as we seek to increassates in Europe.

In the first quarter of 2013, we began selling products in Australia. In 2012, Australia enactethtonal price on carbon emissions
intended to increase the cost of traditional ens@yrces, thereby making renewable energy souroes attractive. Beginning in 2012, several
states in Australia also began to gradually rediei FiTs. As of October 2013, all FiT programsAstralia have expired. Australia recently
elected a new national Government. The new leagehsls pledged to revise national energy policgiuding the carbon price, Renewable
Energy Target, and certain renewable energy fimgngiechanisms. The reductions in incentives anéntaiaty around future energy policy
may negatively affect our business financial cdoditand results of operations as we seek to iserear business in Australia. Additionally
we further expand to other countries, changesdaritive programs or electricity policies could nagdy affect returns on our investments in
those countries as well as our business, finacoiadition, and results of operations.

The threat of continuing global economic, capitalarkets and credit disruptions, including sovereigiebt issues, pose risks for our
business.

The threat of continuing global economic, capitarkets and credit disruptions, including the soigrelebt issues in Europe, pose risks
for our business. These risks include slower ecaénawtivity and investment in projects that make agour products and services. These
economic developments, particularly decreased tcaedilability, have reduced demand for solar potsluThe European sovereign debt crisis
has caused and may continue to cause Europeamguoets to reduce, eliminate or allow to expire goweent subsidies and economic
incentives for solar energy, which could limit g@rowth or
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cause our net sales to decline and materially dadraely affect our business, financial conditiand results of operations. These conditions,
including reduced incentives, continued decreasesddit availability, as well as continued econoinstability, have and may continue to
adversely impact our business, financial conditiod results of operations as we seek to increassabes in Europe.

Our microinverter systems may not achieve broaderket acceptance, which would prevent us from inasing our revenue and market
share.

If we fail to achieve broader market acceptanceurfproducts, there would be an adverse impacuomlaility to increase our revenue,
gain market share and achieve and sustain prdfiyal@ur ability to achieve broader market accegtfor our products will be impacted by a
number of factors, including:

. our ability to timely introduce and complete nevsiges and timely qualify and certify our produ

. whether installers, system owners and solanfimay providers will continue to adopt our microgmier systems, which is a
relatively new technology with a limited historytivirespect to reliability and performance;

. whether installers, system owners and solanfimey providers will be willing to purchase micreerter systems from us given
our limited operating history;

. the ability of prospective system owners to obtang-term financing for solar PV installationaded on our product platform on
acceptable terms or at all;

. our ability to produce microinverter systemst tt@mpete favorably against other solutions orbthes of price, quality, reliability
and performance;

. our ability to develop products that comply witical standards and regulatory requirements, dsasgotential in-country
manufacturing requirements; and

. our ability to develop and maintain successfultiefeships with our customers and suppli

In addition, our ability to achieve increased madtsare will depend on our ability to increase sadeestablished solar installers, who
have traditionally sold central inverters. Thesstallers often have made substantial investmerdgsign, installation resources and training ir
traditional central inverter systems, which mayateechallenges for us to achieve their adoptioouofmicroinverter systems.

Our gross profit may fluctuate over time, which claduimpair our ability to achieve or maintain profability.

Our gross profit has varied in the past and idyike continue to vary significantly from period period. Our gross profit may be
adversely affected by numerous factors, some ofhvare beyond our control, including:

. changes in customer, geographic or product

. increased price competition, including the impdatustomer discounts and rebates; ability to recunmbcontrol product cos

. warranty costs and reserves, including changgdting from changes in estimates related todhg-term performance of our
products, product replacement costs and warraatgnalates;

. loss of cost savings due to changes in compasreraiw material pricing or charges incurred dugnt@ntory holding periods if
product demand is not correctly anticipated;

. introduction of new produci

. ordering patterns from our distributc

. price reductions on older products to sell remajnnventory

. our ability to reduce production costs, suclthasugh technology innovations, in order to offsete declines in older products
over time;

. changes in shipment volun

. changes in distribution chann

. excess and obsolete inventory and inventory holdiragges; ar

. expediting costs incurred to meet customer deliveguirement:
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Fluctuations in gross profit may adversely affaat ability to manage our business or achieve ontaai profitability.

The inverter industry is highly competitive and vegpect to face increased competition as hew andtaxy competitors introduce
microinverter products, which could negatively imgtaour results of operations and market share.

To date, we have competed primarily against cemvarter manufacturers and until recently havedglittle direct competition in sellir
our microinverter systems. Marketing and selling microinverter systems against traditional investgutions is highly competitive.
Currently, competitors in the inverter market rafigen large companies such as SMA Solar Technok@y Fronius International GmbH and
Power-One Inc. to emerging companies offering a#tve microinverter or other solar electronicsdurcts. Several of our existing and
potential competitors are significantly larger, ayreater financial, marketing, distribution, cusés support and other resources, are more
established than we are, and have significantligbbtand recognition. Some of our competitors hraeee resources to develop or acquire,
more experience in developing or acquiring, newdpots and technologies and in creating market aveaefor these products and
technologies. Further, certain competitors maylide o develop new products more quickly than we axad may be able to develop products
that are more reliable or that provide more funwldy than ours. In addition, some of our compesithave the financial resources to offer
competitive products at aggressive or below-mapkieing levels, which could cause us to lose satasarket share or require us to lower
prices for our microinverter systems in order tmpete effectively. Suppliers of solar productstipatarly solar modules, have experienced
eroding prices over the last several years andrasudt many have faced margin compression andnileglrevenues. If we have to reduce our
prices by more than we anticipated, or if we arahbl@to offset any future reductions in our aversgéng prices by increasing our sales
volume, reducing our costs and expenses or intindutew products, our revenues and gross profiiavsuffer.

We expect competition to intensify as new and egstompetitors enter the microinverter market additional add-on components like
DC-to-DC optimizers that can be used with centraéiters gain traction. We believe that a numberofipanies have developed or are
developing microinverters and other products thdtoompete directly with our microinverter systenMA Solar Technology AG and Power-
One Inc. have recently introduced microinverterdoicts. In addition, several new entrants to theomeerter market have recently announcec
plans to ship or have already shipped productsyditng some of our OEM customers and partners.

We also may face competition from some of our austs who evaluate our capabilities against thetmefimanufacturing products
internally. For instance, solar module manufacticeuld attempt to develop components that dirgalyorm DC to AC conversion in the
module itself. Due to the fact that such customeay not seek to make a profit directly from the ofanture of these products, they may have
the ability to manufacture competitive products &wer cost than we would charge such customers Kesult, these customers may purcha:s
fewer of our microinverter systems or sell produbts compete with our microinverters systems, Wwhiould negatively impact our revenue
and gross profit.

Problems with product quality or product performaaanay cause us to continue to incur additional wanty expenses and may damage ¢
market reputation and cause our revenue and grossfip to decline.

We have offered 15-year limited warranties for fitgt and second generation microinverters andr@fiémited warranty of up to 25
years on our third and fourth generation microites. Our limited warranties cover defects in materand workmanship of o
microinverters under normal use and service camubtfor up to 25 years following installation. Asesult, we bear the risk of warranty claims
long after we have sold the product and recognigednue. Our estimated costs of warranty for prestiosold products may change to the
extent future products are not compatible withieageneration products under warranty.

While we offer warranties of up to 25 years, oucminverters have only been in use since mid-200&n we first commenced
commercial sales of our products. Although we cahdgcelerated life cycle testing to measure peréorce and reliability, our microinverter
systems have not been tested over the full wareydle and do not have a sufficient operating hjsto confirm how they will perform over
their estimated useful life. In addition, underlv@arld operating conditions, which may vary by &ion and design, as well as insolation,
soiling and weather conditions, a typical solariRstallation may perform in a different way tharden standard test conditions. If our prodt
perform below expectations or have unexpectedhiitiaproblems, we may be unable to gain or retaistomers and could face substantial
warranty expense.

We are required to make assumptions and apply jedignbased on our accelerated life cycle testagtlae limited operating history of
our products, regarding a number of factors, inidgdhe durability and reliability of our productajr anticipated rate of warranty claims and
the costs of replacement of defective products.a3sumptions have proven and could in the futuveepto be materially different from the
actual performance of our products, which has chaseé may in
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the future cause us to incur substantial expenseptair or replace defective products. Increasesiirestimates of future warranty obligations
due to actual product failure rates, field senabéigations and rework costs incurred in correcfingduct failures have caused and could in th
future cause us to materially increase the amolunbaanty obligations, and have had and may havke future a corresponding negative
impact on our results of operations.

We also depend significantly on our reputationr@iability and high-quality products and servicesceptional customer service and out
brand name to attract new customers and grow ainéss. If our products and services do not perfgranticipated or we experience
unexpected reliability problems or widespread podailures, our brand and reputation could beificantly impaired and we may lose, or be
unable to gain or retain, customers.

Defects and poor performance in our products couésult in loss of customers, decreased revenue anexpected expenses, and we n
face warranty, indemnity and product liability clais arising from defective product

Our products must meet stringent quality requireiiand may contain undetected errors or defeqiecédly when first introduced or
when new generations are released. Errors, defegtsor performance can arise due to design fldefgcts in raw materials or components ol
manufacturing difficulties, which can affect bottetquality and the yield of the product. Thesersrov defects may be dangerous, as defectiv
power components may cause power overloads, paligntsulting in explosion or fire. As we developw generations of our products and
enter new markets, we face higher risk of undetedéfects, because our testing protocols may nableeto fully test the products under all
possible operating conditions. In the past, we leyerienced defects in our products due to ceetaors in the manufacturing and design
process. Any actual or perceived errors, defecfor performance in our products could resulhireplacement or recall of our products,
shipment delays, rejection of our products, dantageir reputation, lost revenue, diversion of augiaeering personnel from our product
development efforts in order to address or remegydeefects and increases in customer service gubstucosts, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and opesati

Furthermore, defective, inefficient or poorly perfang power components may give rise to warramgiemnity or product liability
claims against us that exceed any revenue or prefiteceive from the affected products. We coutdiirsignificant costs and liabilities if we
are sued and if damages are awarded against usuiémtly maintain a moderate level of productilighinsurance, and there can be no
assurance that this insurance will provide suffiti@verage in the event of a claim. Also, we cammedict whether we will be able to maint
this coverage on acceptable terms, if at all, at ghproduct liability claim would not harm our mess or financial condition. Costs or
payments we may make in connection with warranty @oduct liability claims or product recalls majvarsely affect our financial condition
and results of operations.

Our Enlighten web-based monitoring service, whiah @ustomers use to track and monitor the perfoomatf their solar PV systems
based on our product platform, may contain undeteetrors, failures, or bugs, especially when nemiens or enhancements are released
have from time to time found defects in our sendo€e new errors in our existing service may bedaetein the future. Any errors, defects,
disruptions in service or other performance prolslevith our monitoring service could harm our repiotaand may damage our customers'
businesses.

If we are unable to effectively manage our growthyr business and operating results may suff

We have recently experienced, and expect to comtioexperience, significant growth in our saled @perations. Our historical growth
has placed, and planned future growth is expectedrtinue to place, significant demands on ouragament, as well as our financial and
operational resources, to:

. manage a larger organizati

. expand thirdparty manufacturing, testing and distribution catya

. build additional custom manufacturing test equipty

. manage an increasing number of relationships withamers, suppliers and other third par
. increase our sales and marketing eff:

. train and manage a growing employee t

. broaden our customer support capabili

. implement new and upgrade existing operationalfanashcial systems; ai

. enhance our financial disclosure controls and pioges
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We cannot assure you that our current and planperhtions, personnel, systems, internal procedamdscontrols will be adequate to
support our future growth. If we cannot managegroivth effectively, we may be unable to take adagatof market opportunities, execute
business strategies or respond to competitive pressany of which could have a material adverseebn our financial condition, results of
operation, business or prospects.

Our recent and planned expansion into new marketaitd subject us to additional business, financiahé competitive risks.

We currently offer microinverter systems targetihg residential and commercial markets in the Wn8tates, Canada, the United
Kingdom, France, the Benelux region, certain offigiopean markets and Australia. We also intencpaued into other international markets
and to introduce new microinverter systems targatddrger commercial and utility-scale installasoOur success in these new geographic
and product markets will depend on a number obfa¢such as:

acceptance of microinverters in markets in whiaythave not traditionally been us

our ability to compete in new product markets tdchitwe are not accustom

our ability to manage an increasing manufacturiggacity and productio

willingness of our potential customers to incurighler upfront capital investment than may be resgifor competing solutior
our ability to develop solutions to addressrdmguirements of the larger commercial and utiitgle market

timely qualification and certification of newqatucts for larger commercial and utilisgale installation

our ability to reduce production costs in ordeptize our products competitively over tir

availability of government subsidies and economéehtives for solar energy solutic

accurate forecasting and effective managementvehiory levels in line with anticipated product derd; ani

our customer service capabilities and responsiv

Further, new geographic markets and the larger cential and utility-scale installation markets hal#erent characteristics from the
markets in which we currently sell products, and success will depend on our ability to properldress these differences. These differences
may include:

differing regulatory requirements, including taws, trade laws, labor, safety, local content emrasumer protection regulations,
tariffs, export quotas, customs duties or othetengestrictions;

limited or unfavorable intellectual property prdieo;

risk of change in international political or ecorioroonditions
restrictions on the repatriation of earnir

fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies ameérest rate

difficulties and increased expenses in complyiitt) a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, regulasaand trade standards, including
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

potentially longer sales cycli

higher volume requiremen

increased customer concentratis

warranty expectations and product return policies

cost, performance and compatibility requireme

Failure to develop and introduce these new prodiwatsessfully, to generate sufficient revenue fthese products to offset associated
research and development, marketing and manufagtadsts, or to otherwise effectively anticipatd amnage the risks and challenges
associated with our potential expansion into nesdpct and geographic markets, could adversely adf@gcrevenues and our ability to achieve
or sustain profitability.
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A drop in the retail price of electricity deriveddm the utility grid or from alternative energy soces, or a change in utility pricing
structures, may harm our business, financial condih and results of operations

We believe that a system owner's decision to pgechasolar PV system is strongly influenced bycthst of electricity generated by sa
PV installations relative to the retail price oéetricity from the utility grid and the cost of ethrenewable energy sources, including electricit
from solar PV installations using central invertddecreases in the retail prices of electricityrirthe utility grid would make it more difficult
for all solar PV systems to compete. In particugmowth in unconventional natural gas productiod an increase in global liquefied natural
gas capacity are expected to keep natural gasspetatively low for the foreseeable future. Pe¢esislow natural gas prices, lower prices of
electricity produced from other energy sourceshsasnuclear power, or improvements to the utififyastructure could reduce the retail price
of electricity from the utility grid, making the pthase of solar PV systems less economically &itteaand lowering sales of our microinverter
systems. In addition, energy conservation technetognd public initiatives to reduce demand foceileity also could cause a fall in the retail
price of electricity from the utility grid. Moreovetechnological developments by our competitorthasolar components industry, including
manufacturers of central inverters, could allowstheompetitors or their partners to offer eledtyiai costs lower than those that can be
achieved from solar PV installations based on eadpct platform, which could result in reduced dadhéor our products. Additionally, as
increasing adoption of distributed generation pdgmessure on traditional utility business modelstiity infrastructure, utilities may change
their pricing structures to make installation oerggion of solar distributed generation more coSlych measures can include grid access fee
costly or lengthy interconnection studies, limibats on distributed generation penetration levelstloer measures. If the cost of electricity
generated by solar PV installations incorporatingraicroinverter systems is high relative to thetaaf electricity from other sources, our
business, financial condition and results of openstmay be harmed.

If we do not forecast demand for our products acetely, we may experience product shortages, delaysoduct shipment, excess prodi
inventory, or difficulties in planning expenses, wth will adversely affect our business and finantieondition.

We manufacture our products according to our estismaf customer demand. This process requires make multiple forecasts and
assumptions relating to the demand of our distoilsttheir end customers and general market congditBecause we sell most of our product:
to distributors, who in turn sell to their end araers, we have limited visibility as to end-customiemand. We depend significantly on our
distributors to provide us visibility into their értustomer demand, and we use these forecastsk® aoa own forecasts and planning
decisions. If the information from our distributdtsns out to be incorrect, then our own forecasdy also be inaccurate. Furthermore, we do
not have long-term purchase commitments from ostridutors or end customers, and our sales arerg@lgnmade by purchase orders that may
be canceled, changed or deferred without notieestor penalty. As a result, it is difficult to faast future customer demand to plan our
operations.

If we overestimate demand for our products, ouifcthase orders are canceled or shipments are delagemay have excess inventory
that we cannot sell. We may have to make signifipaovisions for inventory write-downs based onrggahat are currently not known, and
such provisions or any adjustments to such prowssapuld be material. Conversely, if we underedend@mand, we may not have sufficient
inventory to meet end-customer demand, and we os®yrharket share, damage relationships with otritalisors and end customers and forgc
potential revenue opportunities. Obtaining addaicsupply in the face of product shortages mayds#ly or impossible, particularly in the
short term and in light of our outsourced manufaotuprocesses, which could prevent us from futiglorders in a timely and cost efficient
manner or at all. In addition, if we overestimatg production requirements, our contract manufactumay purchase excess components ant
build excess inventory. If our contract manufaatsirat our request, purchase excess component@réhahique to our products and are unabl
to recoup the costs of such excess through resaétn or build excess products, we could beiredguo pay for these excess parts or
products and recognize related inventory write-dawn

In addition, we plan our operating expenses, inolgdesearch and development expenses, hiring reeetimventory investments, in p
on our estimates of customer demand and futurentexdf customer demand or revenue for a partiquéaiod is lower than we expect, we n
not be able to proportionately reduce our fixedrapeg expenses for that period, which would hatmaperating results for that period.

Ordering patterns from our distributors may causerrevenue to fluctuate significantly from periodtperiod.

Our distributors place purchase orders with usdasetheir assessment of end-customer demand amddhecasts. Because these
forecasts may not be accurate, channel inventddyaieour distributors may fluctuate significantlye to the difference between their forecast
and actual demand. As a result, distributors adest purchase orders placed with us in
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response to changing channel inventory levels,edksas their assessment of the latest market detmands. We have limited visibility into
future end customer demand. A significant decr@aser distributors' channel inventory in one pdrinay lead to a significant rebuilding of
channel inventory in subsequent periods, or vigsajevhich may cause our quarterly revenue andatipgrresults to fluctuate significantly.
This fluctuation may cause our results to fall slebranalyst or investor expectations in a cerfgriod, which may cause our stock price to
decline.

Changes in current laws or regulations or the imptign of new laws or regulations, or new interprdtans thereof, by federal or state
agencies or foreign governments could impair ourilitly to compete in international markets.

Changes in current laws or regulations applicablestor the imposition of new laws and regulationthe United States or other
jurisdictions in which we do business, such as #list, Canada, France, Italy, the United Kingddme, Benelux region and China, col
materially and adversely affect our business, fimgrcondition and results of operations. In addifichanges in our products or changes in
export and import laws and implementing regulatioray create delays in the introduction of new patslin international markets, prevent
customers from deploying our products internatitynad, in some cases, prevent the export or impbaur products to certain countries
altogether.

For example, the Italian energy authority (AEEG3&#ad a new set of interconnection standards far soergy installations that beca
effective in July 2012, which has negatively impacour sales in Italy. We continue to explore pti#éisolutions to meet these requirements.
However, in the event that we cannot implementlatism in the near term the total market availdbleour microinverter products in Italy, a
our business as a result, may continue to be aglyarspacted.

In addition, several states, including Louisiand &alifornia, have either implemented or are cossig) implementing new restrictions
on incentives or rule regulating the installatidrsolar systems that we may not be able to cuyreamply with. In the event that we cannot
comply with these or other new regulations or immat a solution to such noncompliance as they atisetotal market available for our
microinverter products in such states, and ourlass as a result, may be adversely impacted.

While we are not aware of any other current or psagl export or import regulations which would miatgr restrict our ability to sell oL
products in countries where we offer our produotsshle, any change in export or import regulationselated legislation, shift in approach to
the enforcement or scope of existing regulationghange in the countries, persons or technoldgrgeted by these regulations, could rest
decreased use of our products by, or in our deedealsility to export or sell our products to, exigtor potential customers with international
operations. In such event, our business and resfudtgerations could be adversely affected.

We depend upon a small number of outside contraemfacturers. Our operations could be disrupteda® encounter problems with these
contract manufacturers.

We do not have internal manufacturing capabilittas] rely upon a small number of contract manufacsuto build our products. In
particular, we rely on contract manufacturers far manufacture of microinverter products, cabling aur communications gateway related tc
our microinverter systems. Our reliance on a smathber of contract manufacturers makes us vulnetaklbossible capacity constraints and
reduced control over component availability, delvechedules, manufacturing yields and costs. Weaddave long-term supply contracts
with our other manufacturing partners. Consequettilyse manufacturers are not obligated to supplgiyzts to us for any period, in any
specified quantity or at any certain price.

The revenues that our contract manufacturers gengcam our orders represent a relatively smaltpetage of their overall revenues.
a result, fulfilling our orders may not be consitta priority in the event of constrained abiliwyftlfill all of their customer obligations in a
timely manner. In addition, the facilities in whiolr microinverters, related cabling and commuinicest gateway products are manufactured
are located outside of the United States. We belibat the location of these facilities outsidehaf United States increases supply risk,
including the risk of supply interruptions or retioos in manufacturing quality or controls.

If any of our contract manufacturers were unablarawilling to manufacture our products in requikedumes and at high quality levels
or renew existing terms under supply agreementsyadd have to identify, qualify and select accefgalternative contract manufacturers.
An alternative contract manufacturer may not belabke to us when needed or may not be in a paosticsatisfy our quality or production
requirements on commercially reasonable termsydiey price. Any significant interruption in manafaring would require us to reduce our
supply of products to our customers, which in turn
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would reduce our revenues, harm our relationshifls @ur customers and damage our relationships euthdistributors and end customers
cause us to forgo potential revenue opportunities.

Manufacturing problems could result in delays in pduct shipments to customers and could adversefgafour revenue, competitiv
position and reputation

We may experience delays, disruptions or qualitytrad problems in our manufacturing operations. @uaduct development,
manufacturing and testing processes are complexeaqdre significant technological and productiongess expertise. Such processes involv
a number of precise steps from design to produchorly change in our processes could cause one & production errors, requiring a
temporary suspension or delay in our productioe lintil the errors can be researched, identifiepmoperly addressed and rectified. This |
occur particularly as we introduce new productsdifiyoour engineering and production techniques, exyghnd our capacity. In addition, our
failure to maintain appropriate quality assuraneeEesses could result in increased product faijuioss of customers, increased production
costs and delays. Any of these developments caud b material adverse effect on our businessidinhcondition, and results of operations.

A disruption could also occur in our manufacturpegtner's fabrication facility due to any numberedsons, such as equipment failure,
contaminated materials or process deviations, wbathd adversely impact manufacturing yields oaglgdroduct shipments. As a result, we
could incur additional costs that would adverséfgct our gross profit, and product shipments to @istomers could be delayed beyond the
shipment schedules requested by our customershwidald negatively affect our revenue, competifpesition and reputation.

Additionally, manufacturing yields depend on a nembf factors, including the stability and manutaebility of the product design,
manufacturing improvements gained over cumulatioelpction volumes and the quality and consisteri@omponent parts. Capacity
constraints, raw materials shortages, logistiaseisslabor shortages, changes in customer requitspreanufacturing facilities or processes
those of some third-party contract manufacturedssuppliers of raw materials and components hastetically caused, and may in the future
cause, reduced manufacturing yields, negativelyattipg the gross profit on, and our production cépdor, those products. Moreover, an
increase in the rejection and rework rate of présldaring the quality control process before, dyion after manufacture would result in our
experiencing lower yields, gross profit and prodhrctapacity.

The risks of these types of manufacturing problanesfurther increased during the introduction off peoduct lines, which has from tir
to time caused, and may in the future cause, teanpsuspension of production lines while problemesaaldressed or corrected. Since our
business is substantially dependent on a limitedbar of product lines, any prolonged or substastigpension of manufacturing production
lines could result in a material adverse effecbonrevenue, gross profit, competitive positiond drstributor and customer relationships.

We depend on sole source and limited source supplier key components and products. If we are unabb source these components on a
timely basis, we will not be able to deliver oulogucts to our customers.

We depend on sole source and limited source supptie key components of our products. For exampule ASICs are purchased from a
sole source supplier or developed for us by salecgosuppliers. Any of the sole source and limgedrce suppliers upon whom we rely could
experience quality and reliability issues, coulgpgbroducing our components, cease operations acdpgired by, or enter into exclusive
arrangements with, our competitors. We generallpatchave long-term supply agreements with our beirsp and our purchase volumes are
currently too low for us to be considered a priodtistomer by most of our suppliers. As a resuttstnof these suppliers could stop selling t
at commercially reasonable prices, or at all. Anghsquality or reliability issue, or interruption delay may force us to seek similar
components or products from alternative sourceg;wimay not be available on commercially reasonsdas, including price, or at all.
Switching suppliers may require that we redesignpraducts to accommodate new components, and wtapfoally require us to re-qualify
our products, which would be costly and time-conisignAny interruption in the quality or supply afle source or limited source components
for our products would adversely affect our abititymeet scheduled product deliveries to our custeptould result in lost revenue or higher
expenses and would harm our business.

If we or our contract manufacturers are unable tdtin raw materials in a timely manner or if the jme of raw materials increase
significantly, production time and product costswld increase, which may adversely affect our busise

The manufacturing and packaging processes usedryootract manufacturers depend on raw materneds as copper, aluminum,
silicon and petroleum-based products. From timtgre, suppliers may extend lead times, limit sugpbr increase prices due to capacity
constraints or other factors. Certain of our sugplhave the ability to pass along to us
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directly or through our contract manufacturers atyeases in the price of raw materials. If thegsiof these raw materials rise significantly,
we may be unable to pass on the increased cost trustomers. While we may from time to time emiés hedging transactions to reduce our
exposure to wide fluctuations in the cost of rawenals, the availability and effectiveness of thégdging transactions may be limited. Due t
all these factors, our results of operations chacdversely affected if we or our contract martuf@es are unable to obtain adequate supplie
of raw materials in a timely manner or at reasomabbt. In addition, from time to time, we or oontract manufacturers may need to reject
raw materials that do not meet our specificatioasilting in potential delays or declines in outptrthermore, problems with our raw
materials may give rise to compatibility or perf@mee issues in our products, which could lead tmer®ase in customer returns or product
warranty claims. Errors or defects may arise fram materials supplied by third parties that arednelyour detection or control, which could
lead to additional customer returns or product amty claims that may adversely affect our busisegkresults of operations.

If potential owners of solar PV systems based om ptoduct platform are unable to secure financinqi@cceptable terms, we cou
experience a reduction in the demand for our soRY systems.

Many owners of solar PV systems depend on finan@imrchase their systems. The limited use of @meerters to date, coupled with
our limited operating history, could result in lemsl refusing to provide the financing necessaputechase solar PV systems based on our
product platform on favorable terms, or at all. Blaver, in the case of debt financed projects, éenders are willing to finance the purchase
of these systems, an increase in interest ratacbange in tax incentives could make it diffidalt owners to secure the financing necessary t
purchase a solar PV system on favorable termg, all. &n addition, we believe that a significamrpentage of owners purchase solar PV
systems as an investment, funding the initial ehpitpenditure through a combination of upfronthcasd financing. Difficulties in obtaining
financing for solar PV installations on favorakdenhs, or increases in interest rates or changesimcentives, could lower an investor's returr
on investment in a solar PV installation, or makeraative solar PV systems or other investmentserattractive relative to solar PV systems
based on our product platform. Any of these eveatsd result in reduced demand for our productsciwvbould have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operagioim addition, an increasing share of residestiddr installations has been provided through
third party financing structures, such as powechase or lease agreements. Our sales growth theiafoeasingly depends on sales to
developers of third party solar finance offeringsosprovide solar as a service via power purchasseagents or leasing structures. The third
party finance market for residential solar in th® &hd elsewhere is or may become highly concediraii¢h a few significant finance
companies and several smaller entrants. If we @abla develop relationships and gain a signifistuatre of inverter sales to the major finance
companies or new entrants, our overall sales gratiltibe constrained.

We rely primarily on distributors and large instats to assist in selling our products, and the tai of these customers to perform as
expected could reduce our future revenue.

We sell our microinverter systems primarily throwdistributors, as well as through direct salesalarsequipment installers and sales to
developers of third party solar finance offerinigs2013, Vivint Solar, Inc., CED Greentech and FeaiEnergy, Inc. accounted for 15%, 14%
and 11% of total net revenues, respectively. Waatdave exclusive arrangements with these thirtlgsaand, as a result, many of our
customers also market and sell products from oomnpatitors, which may reduce our sales. Our custemmety terminate their relationships v
us at any time, or with short notice. Our custonmeay fail to devote resources necessary to selpmducts at the prices, in the volumes and
within the time frames that we expect, or may foitigsr marketing and sales efforts on productsusfammpetitors. In addition, participants in
the solar industry are becoming increasingly foduse vertical integration of the solar financinglanstallation process, which may lead to an
overall reduction in the number of potential patieho may purchase and install our products.

Our future performance depends on our ability featively manage our relationships with our exigtaustomers, as well as to attract
additional customers that will be able to market anpport our products effectively, especially iarkets in which we have not previously
distributed our products. Termination of agreemevits current customers, failure by these custont@perform as expected, or failure by us
to cultivate new customer relationships, could binolur ability to expand our operations and harmreuenue and operating results.

Our success in an “AC module” version of our micmoierter system may depend in part upon our abitibycontinue to work closely with
leading solar module manufacturers.

We are currently working on variants of our micrarter system that will enable an “AC module” faredt attachment of the
microinverter to the solar modules. The market sas®f such solutions will depend in part on odulitgtio continue to work closely with solar
module manufacturers to design solar modules tleat@mpatible with such direct
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attachment of our microinverter. We may not be ablencourage solar module manufacturers to wottk us on the development of such
compatible solutions combining our microinvertesteyn and solar modules for a variety of reasomfyding differences in marketing or
selling strategy, competitive considerations, latkompetitive pricing, and technological compaditii In addition, our ability to form
effective partnerships with solar module manufaatsimay be adversely affected by the substantaigés faced by many of these
manufacturers due to declining prices and revefroes sales of solar modules.

If we fail to retain our key personnel or if we faio attract additional qualified personnel, we mayt be able to achieve our anticipated le
of growth and our business could suffer.

Our future success and ability to implement ouiiress strategy depends, in part, on our abilitgticact and retain key personnel, anc
the continued contributions of members of our semanagement team and key technical personnel,afazhom would be difficult to
replace. All of our employees, including our sem@nagement, are free to terminate their employmadationships with us at any time.
Competition for highly skilled technical peoplecistremely intense, and we face challenges identifyiiring and retaining qualified personnel
in many areas of our business. If we fail to retain senior management and other key personnélg fail to attract additional qualified
personnel, we may not be able to achieve our giatbjectives and our business could suffer.

If we fail to protect, or incur significant costidefending, our intellectual property and other gprietary rights, our business and results
operations could be materially harmed.

Our success depends to a significant degree oalmlitly to protect our intellectual property andhet proprietary rights. We rely on a
combination of patent, trademark, copyright, traderet and unfair competition laws, as well as idenftiality and license agreements and ¢
contractual provisions, to establish and protectiotellectual property and other proprietary rightVe have applied for patent and trademark
registrations in the United States and in certéi®iocountries, some of which have been issuedcaiaot guarantee that any of our pending
applications will be approved or that our existargl future intellectual property rights will be &cifently broad to protect our proprietary
technology, and any failure to obtain such appwealfinding that our intellectual property riglaie invalid or unenforceable could force us
among other things, rebrand or re-design our ateptoducts. In countries where we have not apfitiegatent protection or where effective
intellectual property protection is not availabdethe same extent as in the United States, we may Qreater risk that our proprietary rights
will be misappropriated, infringed or otherwise laied.

To protect our unregistered intellectual properigluding our trade secrets and know-how, we nelgart on trade secret laws and
confidentiality and invention assignment agreemauitls our employees and independent consultantsaléerequire other third parties who
may have access to our proprietary technologiesrdatmation to enter into nodisclosure agreements. Such measures, howeveideronly
limited protection, and we cannot assure that ounfidentiality and non-disclosure agreements wiéyent unauthorized disclosure or use of
our confidential information, especially after @mployees or third parties end their employmemtrayagement with us, or provide us with an
adequate remedy in the event of such disclosumth&umore, competitors or other third parties medependently discover our trade secret
which case we would not be able to assert tradetseaghts, copy or reverse engineer our producisdions thereof or develop similar
technology. If we fail to protect our intellectysbperty and other proprietary rights, or if suctellectual property and proprietary rights are
infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violatedr, business, results of operations or financiab@ion could be materially harmed.

In the future, we may need to take legal actiopravent third parties from infringing upon or mipappriating our intellectual property
from otherwise gaining access to our technologgtdeting and enforcing our intellectual propergghts and determining their validity and
scope could result in significant litigation coatsd require significant time and attention from tmahnical and management personnel, which
could significantly harm our business. In additia, may not prevail in such proceedings. An advetgeome of any such proceeding may
reduce our competitive advantage or otherwise lmmfinancial condition and our business.

Third parties may assert that we are infringing updheir intellectual property rights, which couldidert management's attention, cause us
to incur significant costs and prevent us from gety or using the technology to which such rightslage.

Our competitors and other third parties hold nurasnaatents related to technology used in our imguahd claims of patent or other
intellectual property right infringement or violati have been litigated against certain of our cditgws. From time to time we may also be
subject to such claims and litigation. Regardldgt&ir merit, responding to such claims can besttonsuming, divert management's attentior
and resources and may cause us to incur signifeegrenses. While
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we believe that our products and technology danfahge in any material respect upon any valieligctual property rights of third parties,
cannot be certain that we would be successful fiartling against any such claims. Furthermore, paeplications in the United States and
most other countries are confidential for a penbtime before being published, so we cannot btagethat we are not infringing third parties'
patent rights or that we were the first to concémentions covered by our patents or patent agptins. As we become more visible as a
publicly traded company, the possibility that thiraties may make claims of intellectual propentfyingement or other violations against us
may grow. An adverse outcome with respect to ach slaim could invalidate our proprietary rightgdorce us to do one or more of the
following:

. obtain from a third party claiming infringememticense to sell or use the relevant technolodyclvmay not be available on
reasonable terms, or at all;

. stop manufacturing, selling, incorporating or using products that embody the asserted intellegxogerty

. pay substantial monetary damay

. our customers pursuant to indemnification olilages under some of our customer contracts; or mXgégnificant resources to

redesign the products that use the infringing tetdgy and to develop or acquire non-infringing teclogy.
Any of these actions could result in a substamédlction in our revenue and could result in logs&s an extended period of time.

Ouir failure to obtain the right to use necessanryirtt-party intellectual property rights on reasonabdkerms, or our failure to maintain, and
comply with the terms and conditions applicable these rights, could harm our business and prosgect

From time to time we have licensed, and in therfutue may choose to or be required to licensentolgy or intellectual property from
third parties in connection with the developmentof products. We cannot assure that such licemtidse available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, and our inability itain such licenses could require us to substiadknology of lower quality or of greater cost.
In addition, we incorporate open source softwadeda our proprietary software. Use of open sosafevare can lead to greater risks than us
of third-party commercial software since open seditensors generally do not provide warrantiesamtrols with respect to origin,
functionality or other features of the softwarentgoopen source software licenses require userdighiute open source software as part of
their products to publicly disclose all or parttké source code in their software and make anyatire works of the open source code
available for limited fees or at no cost. Althougé monitor our use of open source software, opencedicense terms may be ambiguous, an
many of the risks associated with the use of opeince software cannot be eliminated. If we werenfbto have inappropriately used open
source software, we may be required to releaspmprietary source code, re-engineer our softwdisepntinue the sale of certain products in
the event re-engineering cannot be accomplishedtonely basis or take other remedial action. Femtiore, if we are unable to obtain or
maintain licenses from third parties or fail to quynwith applicable open source licenses, we maguigect to costly third party claims of
intellectual property infringement or ownershipoofr proprietary source code. Any of the foregoingld harm our business and put us at a
competitive disadvantage.

Our business has been and could continue to be etfée by seasonal trends and construction cycles.

We have been and could continue to be subjectiiasiny-specific seasonal fluctuations in the futpaaticularly in climates that
experience colder weather during the winter morgheh as northern Europe, Canada, and the UnitgdsSin general, we expect our product:
in the second, third and fourth quarters have Ipesitively affected by seasonal customer demamdisieincluding solar economic incentives,
weather patterns and construction cycles, follotwed seasonally softer first quarter . In the WhiBates, customers will sometimes make
purchasing decisions towards the end of the yeardar to take advantage of tax credits or for letgiy reasons. In addition, construction
levels are typically slower in colder months. Inr&aean countries with FiTs, the construction ofs®lV systems may be concentrated during
the second half of the calendar year, largely dube annual reduction of the applicable minimui &ad the fact that the coldest winter
months are January through March. Accordingly,lmusiness and quarterly results of operations cbeldffected by seasonal fluctuations in
the future.

Covenants in our credit facilities may limit ourdkibility in responding to business opportunitiesé competitive developments and increase
our vulnerability to adverse economic or industrgrditions.

We have lending arrangements with several finanegtitutions, including loan and security agreetsenith Wells Fargo Bank, Nation
Association (“Wells Fargo”) and with Hercules Teology Growth Capital, Inc. (“Hercules”). The loandasecurity agreements with Wells
Fargo and with Hercules restrict our ability togadertain actions such as incurring
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additional debt, encumbering our tangible or intalegproperty, paying dividends, or engaging int@iertransactions, such as mergers and
acquisitions, investments and asset sales. Ourdpdrsecurity agreement with Wells Fargo also reguis to maintain certain financial
covenants, including liquidity ratios while our agment with Hercules includes a condition precettebbrrowing that is subject to us
achieving certain financial objectives. These retitms may limit our flexibility in responding tousiness opportunities, competitive
developments and adverse economic or industry tiondi In addition, our obligations under our lGard security agreements with Wells
Fargo and Hercules are secured by substantialtf allir assets (excluding intellectual propertyfjsi limits our ability to provide collateral
for additional financing. A breach of any of thessenants, or a failure to pay interest or indefsd when due under any of our credit
facilities, could result in a variety of adversasequences, including the acceleration of our itethtess and the forfeiture of our assets su
to security interests in favor of the lenders.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and may eléatcomply with reduced public company reporting tégements applicable to
emerging growth companies, which could make our aoonm stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defineth@nJOBS Act, and, for as long as we continue tarbemerging growth
company,” we may choose to take advantage of exengpfrom various reporting requirements applicablether public companies but not to
“emerging growth companies,” including, but notilied to, not being required to comply with the aadattestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,arb&nes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligati@gmrding executive compensation in oul
periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemgfimm the requirements of holding a nonbindingisaty vote on executive compensation
and stockholder approval of any golden parachuyenpats not previously approved. We could be an ‘tging growth company” until
December 31, 2017 (the last day of the fiscal yelfowing the fifth anniversary of our initial publoffering), although we could cease to be
“emerging growth company” earlier if certain eveatsur as specified in the JOBS Act, such as obieaig annual revenue of at least $1
billion or our becoming a “large accelerated filas' defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. \Atenot predict if investors will find our
common stock less attractive if we choose to relyhese exemptions. If some investors find our comstock less attractive as a result of an
choices to reduce future disclosure, there maylbssaactive trading market for our common stoak @ur stock price may be more volatile.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls or are unable to remediate any defie@es in our internal controls, we migk
not be able to report our financial results accuey or prevent fraud; in that case, our stockholdetould lose confidence in our financial
reporting, which would harm our business and couhggatively impact the price of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for ugrtvide reliable financial reports and preventttaln addition, Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-OxIgly lequires us to establish and maintain intecoatrol over financial reporting and
disclosure controls procedures. The process ofdmphting our internal controls and complying wigt&on 404 has required, and will
continue to require, significant attention of mag@agnt. Although we are currently not required tovpde an auditor’s attestation report on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness dfiteanal control over financial reporting, otheseirequired by Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, this exemption willlooger be available to us beginning with our fisinual Report on 10-K for the year in
which we cease to be an “emerging growth compaay defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startup&racted in April 2012, or the JOI
Act. If we or our independent registered publicaoting firm discover a material weakness in there, the disclosure of that fact, even if
quickly remedied, could reduce the market's comiigdein our financial statements and harm our spoitde. In addition, a delay in compliance
with Section 404 could subject us to a varietydrhanistrative sanctions, including SEC action, iigieility for short form resale registration,
the suspension or delisting of our common stockftbe stock exchange on which it is listed andnladility of registered broker-dealers to
make a market in our common stock, which wouldheirreduce our stock price and could harm our legsinTo the extent any material
weaknesses in our internal control over finanalorting are identified in the future, we couldrbgquired to expend significant management
time and financial resources to correct such madtereaknesses or to respond to any resulting remylanvestigations or proceedings

Our ability to use net operating losses to reduaéufe tax payments may be limited by provisiongteé Internal Revenue Code, and may be
subject to further limitation as a result of futurransactions.

Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Cbd886, as amended, contain rules that limit thétplof a company that undergoes
an ownership change, which is generally any curivédahange in ownership of more than 50% of itelstaver a three-year period, to utilize
its net operating loss and tax credit carryforwamdd certain built-in losses recognized in the yediter the ownership change. These rules
generally operate by focusing on ownership changes
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involving stockholders who directly or indirectlyva 5% or more of the stock of a company and anygban ownership arising from a new
issuance of stock by the company. Generally, ibanership change occurs, the yearly taxable indomitation on the use of net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards is equal to ttelpct of the applicable long-term tax exempt eatd the value of the company's stock
immediately before the ownership change. As a tesal may be unable to offset our taxable inconté wet operating losses, or our tax
liability with credits, before these losses anddiaseexpire.

In addition, it is possible that future transactigimcluding issuances of new shares of our comstock and sales of shares of our
common stock) will cause us to undergo one or radditional ownership changes. In that event, weegdly would not be able to use our net
operating losses from periods prior to this ownigrshange to offset future taxable income in exa#dhe annual limitations imposed by
Sections 382 and 383 and those attributes thatlarady subject to limitations (as a result of ptor ownership changes) may be subject to
more stringent limitations.

The requirements of being a public company may gtraur resources and divert management's attentiimam other aspects of our busine:

We are subject to a wide variety of rules and ratijphs as a public reporting company. The Dodd-i#&fall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, $faebanes-Oxley Act and the rules implemented &ySC and the NASDAQ Global
Market impose significant regulatory requirememspablic companies, including specific corporateeraance practices. For example, the
listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Marketjuére that we satisfy certain corporate governargeirements relating to independent
directors, audit and compensation committees,iligton of annual and interim reports, stockholaheretings, stockholder approvals,
solicitation of proxies, conflicts of interest, skinolder voting rights and codes of conduct. Ounagegment and other personnel are required |
devote a substantial amount of time to these c@npé initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regatincrease our legal and financial
compliance costs and make some activities more-¢tiomsuming and costly. As a public company, beirgexct to these rules and regulations
makes it more difficult and more expensive foraistain director and officer liability insuran@nd in the future, we may be required to
accept reduced policy limits and coverage or imstiostantial additional costs to maintain the sansnoilar coverage. These rules and
regulations could also make it more difficult f& to attract and retain qualified persons to serveur board of directors, our board
committees or as executive officers.

These rules and regulations also contain requirésrikat apply to manufacturers of products incaapng specified minerals. The Dodd-
Frank Act requires public companies to report airthse of so-called conflict minerals originatiingm the Democratic Republic of Congo or
its nine immediate neighbors. Certain minerals camignused in semiconductors are on the list of lkcirmhinerals, and additional minerals
may be added to the list in the future. Complianita these rules, which will require us to disclaag use of these minerals and may requi
to obtain an annual audit of our sourcing and trercof custody of these minerals, will be time-seming and costly.

We may not be able to raise additional capital t@eute on our current or future business opportuiais on favorable terms, if at all, or
without dilution to our stockholders.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitakevailable credit facilities and cash flows froaor operating activities, will be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needstfteast the next 12 months. However, we may needise additional capital to execute on our
current or future business strategies, including to

. invest in our research and development effortsibgdhadditional technical and other person
. expand our operations into new product marketsneng geographie

. acquire complementary businesses, products, sereicechnologies;

. otherwise pursue our strategic plans and respondrpetitive pressure

We do not know what forms of financing, if any, Mik available to us. If financing is not available acceptable terms, if and when
needed, our ability to fund our operations, expamdresearch and development, sales and marketimogidns, develop and enhance our
products, respond to unanticipated events, inctydimanticipated opportunities, or otherwise respooncbmpetitive pressures would be
significantly limited. In any such event, our buesis, financial condition and results of operatiomsld be materially harmed, and we may be
unable to continue our operations. Moreover, ifraige additional funds through the issuance oftgauiconvertible debt securities, the
percentage ownership of our stockholders coulddréfieantly diluted, and these newly issued se@simay have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of existing stockholders
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Natural disasters, terrorist or cyber attacks, ather catastrophic events could harm our operatiol

Our worldwide operations could be subject to natdisasters and other business disruptions, wtoctidcharm our future revenue and
financial condition and increase our costs and egee. For example, our corporate headquarters@ufe, California is located near major
earthquake fault lines. Further, a terrorist attém&luding one aimed at energy or communicatiofi@structure suppliers or our web-based
monitoring service, could hinder or delay the depetent and sale or performance of our productthdrevent that an earthquake, tsunami,
typhoon, terrorist or cyber attack, or other ndfureanmade or technical catastrophe were to desingypart of our facilities or those of our
contract manufacturer, destroy or disrupt vitatasfructure systems or interrupt our operatiorseovices for any extended period of time, our
business, financial condition and results of openstwould be materially adversely affected.

The market price of our common stock may be volatir may decline regardless of our operating perf@ance.

The market price of our common stock has been aanttlbe subject to wide fluctuations in response@toong other things, the risk
factors described in this section of this Annuap&on Form 10-K, and other factors beyond outrmdnsuch as fluctuations in the valuation
of companies perceived by investors to be comparablis. Furthermore, the stock markets have extpegd price and volume fluctuations 1
have affected and continue to affect the markeegrof equity securities of many companies. Thlestuiations often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of¢hcompanies. These broad market and industrg#litions, as well as general economic,
political and market conditions, such as recessioarest rate changes or international currehgytdations, may negatively affect the market
price of our common stock. In the past, many congsathat have experienced volatility in the maykéte of their stock have been subject to
securities class action litigation. We may becohgetarget of this type of litigation in the futuf&ecurities litigation against us could result in
substantial costs and divert our management'stiattefnom other business concerns, which couldosesty harm our business.

Our financial results may vary significantly fromwprter to quarter due to a number of factors, whichay lead to volatility in our stock
price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operationg havied in the past and may continue to vary Samtly from quarter to quarter. This
variability may lead to volatility in our stock pe as research analysts and investors respondge tuarterly fluctuations. These fluctuations
are due to numerous factors, including:

. fluctuations in demand for our produt

. the timing, volume and product mix of sales of ptoducts, which may have different average seltiriges or profit margin

. changes in our pricing and sales policies or thgng and sales policies of our competit

. our ability to design, manufacture and deliveyducts to our customers in a timely and cost-&ffeananner and that meet
customer requirements;

. our ability to manage our relationships with ounttact manufacturers, customers and supp

. quality control or yield problems in our manufadibgy operation

. the anticipation, announcement or introductionse or enhanced products by our competitors ansebuas

. reductions in the retail price of electric

. changes in laws, regulations and policies appli to our business and products, particularlgdéhelating to government
incentives for solar energy applications;

. unanticipated increases in costs or expe

. the amount and timing of operating costs andtabgxpenditures related to the maintenance apdresion of our business
operations;

. the impact of governmeponsored programs on our custorr

. our exposure to the credit risks of our custamparticularly in light of the fact that some afr@ustomers are relatively new
entrants to the solar market without long operatingredit histories;

. our ability to estimate future warranty obligatiahge to product failure rates, claim rates or regaent cost

. our ability to forecast our customer demand, martufing requirements and manage our inven
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. fluctuations in our gross prot
. our ability to predict our revenue and plan ourenges appropriately; a
. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange re

The foregoing factors are difficult to forecastdahese, as well as other factors, could materaily adversely affect our quarterly and
annual results of operations. Any failure to adgmnding quickly enough to compensate for a rexahortfall could magnify the adverse
impact of this revenue shortfall on our result®pérations. Moreover, our results of operations matymeet our announced guidance or the
expectations of research analysts or investomshich case the price of our common stock could sz significantly. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfully esidthese risks.

If research analysts do not publish research abauir business or if they issue unfavorable commenmntar downgrade our common stoc
our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that researchists@ublish about us and our
business. The price of our common stock could dedfione or more research analysts downgradetock sr if those analysts issue other
unfavorable commentary or cease publishing re@rtait us or our business. If one or more of theaeh analysts ceases coverage of our
company or fails to publish reports on us regulatmand for our common stock could decrease, wtoald cause our stock price or trading
volume to decline.

Our principal stockholders, executive officers awlitectors own a significant percentage of our sto@nd they may take actions that our
stockholders may not view as benefici

As of February 28, 2014 , our executive officeisgators, greater than 5% stockholders and entitiasare affiliated with them,
beneficially owned approximately 61% of our outstiagg common stock. This significant concentratibisltare ownership may adversely
affect the trading price for our common stock beeaimvestors often perceive disadvantages in owstimgk in companies with controlling
stockholders. Also, as a result, these stockhgldetig together, may be able to control our menant and affairs and matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the election ofdiors and approval of significant corporate tratisas, such as mergers, consolidations c
sale of substantially all of our assets. Consedyethis concentration of ownership may have tHeafof delaying or preventing a change in
control, including a merger, consolidation or othasiness combination involving us, or discouragimptential acquirer from making a tendel
offer or otherwise attempting to obtain controleeyf this change in control would benefit our atetockholders.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our coomstock in the public market by our existing stdudders could cause our stock price
fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market or the perception thase sales might occur, could
depress the market price of our common stock anftiémpair our ability to raise capital through thede of additional equity securities. We
unable to predict the effect that sales may havihemprevailing market price of our common stock.ok February 28, 2014 , we had
approximately 42.2 million shares of common stoatstanding, all of which are eligible for sale iretpublic market, subject in some cases to
the volume limitations and manner of sale requinetef Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Salest@fk by our stockholders could have a
material adverse effect on the trading price ofaammon stock.

Certain holders of our securities are entitleddbts with respect to the registration of theirrglsaunder the Securities Act. Registration
of these shares under the Securities Act wouldtresthe shares becoming freely tradable with@striction under the Securities Act. Any
sales of securities by these stockholders coule hawaterial adverse effect on the trading priceuofcommon stock.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your only opportyrido achieve a return on your
investment is if the price of our common stock apprates.

We currently do not plan to declare dividends oarel of our common stock in the foreseeable futaraddition, the terms of our bank
loan agreements restrict our ability to pay dividenConsequently, an investor's only opportunitgdbieve a return on its investment in our
company will be if the market price of our commaock appreciates and the investor sells its sretragrofit.
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Our charter documents and Delaware law could prevartakeover that stockholders consider favorabtedacould also reduce the market
price of our stock

Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws t@in provisions that could delay or prevent a claimgcontrol of our company. These
provisions could also make it more difficult fooskholders to elect directors and take other catgoactions, including effecting changes in
our management. These provisions include:

. providing for a classified board of directorglwstaggered, three-year terms, which could déiayability of stockholders to
change the membership of a majority of our boardir@ctors;

. not providing for cumulative voting in the el&et of directors, which limits the ability of minity stockholders to elect directory
candidates;

. authorizing our board of directors to issue hwiit stockholder approval, preferred stock rigetsiar to those of common stock,

which could be used to significantly dilute the @sship of a hostile acquiror;

. prohibiting stockholder action by written consamhich forces stockholder action to be takennafmnual or special meeting of
our stockholders;

. requiring the affirmative vote of holders ofl@ast 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of therttmutstanding shares of voting
stock, voting as a single class, to amend provisadrour certificate of incorporation relating teetmanagement of our business,
our board of directors, stockholder action by wnttconsent, advance notification of stockholderinations and proposals, fort
selection and the liability of our directors, oramend our bylaws, which may inhibit the abilitysbbckholders or an acquiror to
effect such amendments to facilitate changes inag@ment or an unsolicited takeover attempt;

. requiring special meetings of stockholders maly de called by our chairman of the board, if amyr, chief executive officer, our
president or a majority of our board of directavhjch could delay the ability of our stockholdessorce consideration of a
proposal or to take action, including the removfalicectors; and

. requiring advance notification of stockholdenrinations and proposals, which may discourage tardepotential acquiror from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect tlog@ror's own slate of directors or otherwise afiéng to obtain control of us.

In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of theldware General Corporate Law may prohibit largeldtolders, in particular those
owning 15% or more of our outstanding common sté@kn engaging in certain business combinationbavit approval of substantially all of
our stockholders for a certain period of time.

These provisions in our certificate of incorporatiour bylaws and under Delaware law could disogeiotential takeover attempts,
reduce the price that investors might be willingp&y for shares of our common stock in the futune esult in the market price being lower
than it would be without these provisions.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters occupy approximatelj0@6square feet in Petaluma, California under sel¢hat expires in April 2022 and
accommodates our principal engineering, sales, etiak operations and finance and administrativiidies. In addition to our corporate
headquarters in Petaluma, as of December 31, 20&3eased office space in Boise, Idaho, SantaaC@alifornia, the United Kingdom,
France and New Zealand. These regional facilites approximately 136,000 square feet. At thistinve believe our facilities are adequate
for our near term operational and business needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in litigaticelating to claims arising out of our operatione are not currently involved in any
material legal proceedings. We may, however, beliad in material legal proceedings in the fut@®ech matters are subject to uncertainty
and there can be no assurance that such legalggiogs will not have a material adverse effect onkbmsiness, results of operations, financial
position or cash flows.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

Our common stock has been traded on The NASDAQ d@Mdlarket under the symbol “ENPH” since March 3012. The following
table sets forth the range of high and low salespmper share of our common stock as reported@NASDAQ Global Market for the periods
indicated.

Price Range
High Low

FEiscal Year 2013

First Quarter $ 6.7C $ 3.5C

Second Quarter 10.0¢ 5.17

Third Quarter 8.7: 5.5C

Fourth Quarter 9.37 4,54
Fiscal Year 2012

First Quarter (from March 30, 2012) $ 82/ % 7.0¢€

Second Quarter 9.57 4.9C

Third Quarter 6.8¢ 4.0t

Fourth Quarter 4,2¢ 1.92

Holders

As of February 28, 2014 , there were approximai@holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our constumk. We currently anticipate that we will retaimy available funds to finance
the growth and operation of our business and weatl@nticipate paying any cash dividends in thegeeable future. Certain present or future
agreements may limit or prevent the payment ofddimds on our common stock. For example, our lodrsanurity agreement and credit
agreement with Hercules and Wells Fargo, respdgtipechibit the payment of dividends.
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Stock Performance Graph

This section is not "soliciting material" and isteemed “filed"for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities anchBrge Act of 193
(the Exchange Act) or otherwise subject to theiliigds of that section, nor shall it be deemedoiporated by reference in any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, regzssllof any general incorporation language in silioly f

The graph depicted below shows a comparison of tatme total stockholder returns for our commorckidghe Russell 2000 and the
Guggenheim Solar Index for the period from MarchZ2®12 (the date before our common stock begamtyazh the NASDAQ Global Marke
to December 31, 2013. An investment of $100 israsslito have been made in our common stock andchmiadex on March 29, 2012 and its
relative performance is tracked through Decembef813. The information shown is historical anddas necessarily indicative of future
performance.

Enphase Stock Price vs. Indices March 29, 2012 - December 31, 2013
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3/29/12 6/30/12 9/30/12 12/31/12 3/31/13 6/30/13 9/30/13 12/31/13
Enphase Energy, Inc. $ 10C $ 104 $ 69 $ 61 $ 102 $ 12¢  $ 13t $ 10€
Russell 2000 Index $ 10C $ % $ 101 $ 10z $ 114  $ 117 $ 12¢ % 14C
Guggenheim Solar Index $ 10C $ 74 % 67 $ 75 % 77 % 111 $ 15¢ $ 16t
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Iltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The information set forth below for the five yearsled December 31, 2013 is not necessarily ingiati results of future operations,
and should be read in conjunction with ItenM&nagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operationand
the consolidated financial statements and relatégsrthereto included in Item 8pnsolidated Financial Statements and Supplemeraty,
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to fully undenst the factors that may affect the comparabilitshe information presented below.

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Net revenues $ 232,84t % 216,67¢ $ 149,52 $ 61,66. $ 20,19
Cost of revenue® 165,43( 161,39( 120,45: 55,15¢ 23,22!
Gross profit (loss) 67,41¢ 55,28¢ 29,06¢ 6,50: (3,029
Operating expenses:
Research and development 34,52 35,60: 25,09¢ 14,29¢ 8,411
Sales and marketing 31,08( 25,97: 17,45¢ 6,55¢ 2,651
General and administrative 23,97( 24,87¢ 15,22¢ 6,36¢ 2,60:
Total operating expenses 89,57« 86,44¢ 57,78 27,21¢ 13,66¢
Loss from operations (22,159 (31,167 (28,717 (20,717 (16,699
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense (2,055 (6,436 (3,00€) (9149 (35€)
Other income (expense) (837) 30 (572 (14¢€) 12t
Total other income (expense), net (2,897) (6,40¢) (3,57¢ (1,060 (231)
Loss before income taxes (25,050 (37,567 (32,290 (21,777 (16,925
Provision for income taxes (86%) (657) — — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,91) $ (38,219 % (32,290 $ 21,77) $ (16,929
Net loss per share attributable to common stockds|d
basic and diluted $ (0.62) $ 129 $ (25.79 $ (28.9¢ $ (25.97)
Shares used in computing net loss per share dthlaito
common stockholders, basic and diluted 41,64, 30,74( 1,25¢ 752 652

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdescription of changes in estimates reladagarranty expense in 2013,
2012 and 2011.

As of December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $  38,19( $ 45,29 $ 51,52/ $ 39,99! $ 8,64:
Total assets 116,66¢ 122,29: 106,24: 59,50« 20,947
Term loans 8,671 11,06: 14,67 6,90: 411
Total stockholders’ equity 40,20¢ 56,65 13,97« 38,48: 13,621

Additional Data:
Working capital $ 57,14« $ 61,14 $ 29,417 $ 39,75: $ 11,00«
Gross margin percentage 29.C % 25.5 % 19.4 % 10.5 % (15.0%
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition rad Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearisgwhere in this Annual Report on Forn-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements reflecting our current expectations iawdlves risks and uncertainties. In some caseas cam identify forward-looking statements
by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “intend,” “potential” or
“continue” or the negative of these terms or otlsemparable terminology. For example, statementandigg our expectations as to future
financial performance, expense levels and liquiddyrces are forwarlooking statements. Our actual results and thenipof events may
differ materially from those discussed in our forddooking statements as a result of various fagtamcluding those discussed below and
those discussed in the section entitled “Risk Fadtand elsewhere in this report.

” o« ” o« LI ” o« " ow ” o« ” o«

Overview

We deliver microinverter technology for the soladustry that increases energy production, simglifiesign and installation, improves
system uptime and reliability, reduces fire saféti and provides a platform for intelligent energgnagement. We were founded in March
2006 and have grown rapidly to become the marlaetdein the microinverter category. Since our fa@nmercial shipment in mid-2008, we
have sold approximately 4.7 million microinvertassof December 31, 2013, which represents ovegigievatt (DC). We sell our products in
the We currently offer microinverter systems tairggthe residential and commercial markets in tinited States, Canada, the United
Kingdom, France, the Benelux region, certain othgiopean markets and Australia.

We sell our microinverter systems primarily to disfitors who resell them to solar installers. Waoaell directly to large installers and
through original equipment manufacturers (“OEMgi§iatrategic partners. Historically, revenues gateer from the U.S. market have
represented more than 80% of our business, withetim@inder from Canada, Europe and Australia.

We have experienced significant revenue growthesma first commercial shipment in mid-2008. Our mevenues were $ 232.8
million , $216.7 million and $149.5 million for 281 2012 and 2011 , respectively, which reflectspée market penetration and broader
acceptance of microinverter technology. We incurretllosses of $25.9 million , $38.2 million and$8million for 2013, 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively, as we invested significant resoutoeetevelop new product offerings and focused dticatiresearch and development activities
required to reduce product costs, increase perfiocemand foster innovation. We also expanded ouratipes into new product markets and
geographies and invested in our operational infuagire to support anticipated growth.

Our full-time employee headcount has grown from @88Becember 31, 2011 to 398 at December 31, 20&3do not expect similar
growth rates in headcount in the near term. Weebelthe investments we have made in our corpanétesiructure will enable us to deliver
higher levels of net revenues without proportioriateeases in research and development, sales ariettimg, and general and administrative
expenses.

Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations
Net Revenues

We generate net revenues from sales of our micesier systems, which include microinverter unitsEmvoy communications gateway
device, and our Enlighten web-based monitoringiserWe sell to distributors, large installers, O£&hd strategic partners.

Our revenue is affected by changes in the volundeaaerage selling prices of our microinverter systedriven by supply and demand,
sales incentives, and competitive product offerifi@sr revenue growth is dependent on our contidaaélopment and introduction of new
products to meet the changing technology and pedace requirements of our customers, the diveasifio and expansion of our revenue
base, and our ability to market our products insaner that increases awareness for microinverténtdogy and differentiates us in the
marketplace.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Cost of revenues is comprised primarily of prodragts, warranty, manufacturing personnel and lmgistosts, depreciation and
amortization of test equipment and hosting servimesss. Our product costs are impacted by techiwabipnovations, such as advances in
semiconductor integration and new product introidnst, economies of scale resulting in
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lower component costs, and improvements in prodagirocesses and automation. Certain costs, phmpaisonnel and depreciation and
amortization of test equipment, are not directhgeted by sales volume.

We outsource our manufacturing to third-party cacttmanufacturers and generally negotiate prodicihg with them on a quarterly
basis. We believe our contract manufacturing pasthave sufficient production capacity to meetgheving demand for our products for the
foreseeable future. However, shortages in the gugfptertain key raw materials could adversely @ffaur ability to meet customer demand for
our products.

In addition, third parties, including one of ount@ct manufacturers, serve as our logistics pergithy warehousing and delivering our
products in North America, Europe and Australia.

Gross profit may vary from quarter to quarter amgrimarily affected by our average selling prigaeduct cost, product mix, warranty
costs (including changes in estimates) and salesneofluctuations resulting from seasonality.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of research and develdpsales and marketing and general and admitivgtrexpenses. Personnel-related
costs are the most significant component of eathesfe expense categories and include salariesfitsepayroll taxes, recruiting costs, sales
commissions and stock-based compensation. We bdlevinvestments we have made in our corporatasinticture will enable us to deliver
higher levels of net revenues without proportioriateeases in research and development, sales ariettimg, and general and administrative
expenses.

Research and development expense includes persataiteld expenses such as salaries, stock-basqzbosation and employee
benefits. Research and development employees gagjed in the design and development of power eleicts, semiconductors, powerline
communications and networking and software funeibyy Research and development expense also iesltdrd-party design and
development costs, testing and evaluation cospsedmtion expense and other indirect costs. Wetdesubstantial resources in ongoing
research and development programs that focus cmeeriments to and cost efficiencies in our exigtirmglucts and timely development of new
products that utilize technological innovation tivd down product costs, improve functionality, athance reliability. We intend to continue
to invest substantial resources in our researctdamdlopment efforts because we believe they dieadito maintaining our competitive
position.

Sales and marketing expense consists primarilyecfgnnel-related expenses such as salaries, coimnsisstock-based compensation,
employee benefits and travel. It also includesersitdbows, marketing, customer support and otheraatdcosts. We expect to continue to make
the necessary investments to enable us to exeautdrategy to increase our market penetration iggtically and enter into new markets by
expanding our customer base of distributors, largellers, OEMs and strategic partners. Histolycalubstantially all of our sales have bee
the United States and Canada. We began sellindg-natace, Italy and the Benelux region in the fougptlarter of 2011 and commenced volume
shipments to such regions in the second quart2db2. In addition, we opened a sales office indhéed Kingdom during the second quarter
of 2012 and began shipping products to the Unitedjfom in the third quarter of 2012. In late 200@, opened a sales office and began
shipping products in Australia. We believe the stwgents we have made in sales and marketing tondihEnable us to deliver higher levels
net revenues without proportionate increases fromeat levels of sales and marketing expenses. Meryve/e expect to continue to expand the
geographic reach of our product offerings and exgpiew sales channels in addressable markets fattive.

General and administrative expense consists piliynafrsalaries, stock-based compensation and ereplbgnefits for personnel related
to our executive, finance, human resources, inftiomdaechnology and legal organizations. Generdlaaministrative expense also includes
facilities costs and fees for professional servi€esfessional services consist primarily of owdighal, accounting and information technology
consulting costs. We believe the investments we maade in our corporate infrastructure to date evilble us to deliver higher levels of net
revenues without proportionate increases from atitesrels of general and administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net includes interest ircominvested cash balances and interest expersmaumts outstanding under our
credit and convertible note facilities and non-caxt@rest expense related to the amortization bf descounts and deferred financing costs.
Other income (expense), net also includes markddket adjustments to record our preferred stockamas at fair value prior to our initial
public offering of our common stock, or IPO, whiglere issued in conjunction with credit facilities, well as losses or gains on conversion of
non-U.S. dollar transactions into U.S. dollars fareéign currency forward contracts.
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Provision for Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the countriegevive sell our products. Historically, we have iity been subject to taxation in the
United States because we have sold the vast mya@dritur products to customers in the United StaAsswve have expanded the sale of
products to customers outside the United Statesiave become subject to taxation based on thegforsgatutory rates in the countries where
these sales took place. As sales in foreign jurigadis increase in the future, our effective tabe raay fluctuate accordingly. We have not
recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax prowifor any of the periods presented because we éxgperienced operating losses since
inception. A provision for income taxes of $0.9loit and $0.7 million has been recognized for 2am8 2012 , respectively, related to our
foreign operations. Due to the history of losseshaee generated since inception, we have recordigthaluation allowance on our net
deferred tax assets.

Summary Consolidated Statements of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our smidated statements of operations for the penwdsented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net revenues $ 232,84t % 216,67¢ $ 149,52:
Cost of revenues 165,43( 161,39( 120,45
Gross profit 67,41¢ 55,28¢ 29,06¢
Operating expenses:

Research and development 34,52¢ 35,60: 25,09¢

Sales and marketing 31,08( 25,97: 17,45:

General and administrative 23,97( 24,87¢ 15,22¢

Total operating expenses 89,57 86,44¢ 57,78:
Loss from operations (22,159 (31,167 (28,717)
Other expense, net (2,897) (6,40¢6) (3,579
Loss before income taxes (25,050) (37,567 (32,290
Provision for income taxes (8693 (651) —
Net loss $ (25,919 $ (38,219 $ (32,29()
Comparison of 2013, 2012 and 2011
Net Revenues
Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)

Net revenues $ 232,84t $ 216,67¢ $ 16,16¢ 7% $ 216,67¢ $ 149,520 $ 67,15¢ 45%

2013 Compared to 201Rlet revenues increased by 7% to $232.8 million0hcompared to 2012 . The increase in net revenass
primarily due to the increase in microinverter arshipped as well as a larger mix of microinveatmressories. The number of microinverter
units sold increased by 8% from approximately 1,6Q0 units in 2012, to approximately 1,625,000 wirit2013. Substantially all units
shipped in both years consisted of our third geif@ragroduct. During 2013, we continued to expecgen decline in the average selling pric
our microinverters. The decline in average selprige reflected, and was consistent with, receamrids in the solar industry.
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2012 Compared to 201Net revenues increased by 45% to $216.7 milliok0h2 compared to 2011. The increase in net revenass
primarily due to the increase in microinverter arshipped. The number of microinverter units sptitéased by 51% from approximately
1,002,000 units in 2011, to approximately 1,510,00i@s in 2012. The overall increase in units se&d attributable primarily to sales of our
third generation microinverter, which was introddickiring the second quarter of 2011. In additibme,ihcrease in unit sales was driven by
deeper penetration of our existing customer bageaddition of new customers, and broader acceptainour products resulting from, among
other factors, investments made in sales and magkdduring 2012, we continued to experience aidech the average selling price of our
microinverters. The decline in average selling erieflected, and was consistent with, recent trémtise solar industry.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenues $ 165,43( $ 161,39C $ 4,04C 3% $ 161,39 $ 120,45¢ $ 40,93« 34%
Gross profit 67,41¢ 55,28¢ 12,12¢ 22% 55,28¢ 29,06¢ 26,21¢ 90%
Gross margin 29.(% 25.5% 25.5% 19.2%

2013 Compared to 201Zost of revenues increased by 3% in 2013, as cardpgar2012, while net revenues increased by 7%e T
increase in cost of revenues was primarily duentmerease in the number of microinverter unitslgolcustomers, consistent with the overall
increase in net revenues as described above. Giaggn increased by 3.5 percentage points to 2902013, as compared to 25.5% in 2012,
primarily due to a lower cost per microinvertertuamd larger mix of sales from microinverter acoeies. While our third generation product
represented substantially all of 2013 and 201Zsafe were able to achieve lower per unit cosg0it3, as compared to 2012, due to
production efficiencies gained through experiendé the manufacturing process, which had a faver&bpact on gross margin. Costs of
revenues in 2013 and 2012 included warranty expefn$£0.3 million and $7.6 million , respectivehgsulting from net changes in estimates,
which reduced gross margin by approximately 4.4&Bgercentage points, respectively. See Notetbet@onsolidated Financial Statements.

2012 Compared to 201Cost of revenues increased by 34% in 2012, as cedpa 2011. The increase in cost of revenues wasagly
due to an increase in the number of microinvemétsisold to customers, consistent with the ovénallease in net revenues as described a
Gross margin increased by 6.1 percentage poirS.&9% in 2012, as compared to 19.4% in 2011. Theease was primarily driven by a 8
percentage point increase from a larger mix oftogher-margin third generation microinverter, whids a lower per unit manufacturing cost
than our second generation microinverter. The Igwegrunit cost was achieved primarily through desighancements, which resulted in a
higher level of semiconductor integration, and ioy&d efficiencies on increased production volumeaddition, gross margin improved by 2
percentage points in 2012 as a result of a reduatiosage of expedited air-freight for finishedds due to improvements in delivery
scheduling. These increases were partially offget # percentage point reduction to gross margetdwa net increase in warranty expense
primarily attributable to changes in estimates nanty obligations associated with our previousegation products. See Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)
Research and development $ 34,52¢ $ 3560. $ (1,079 3% $ 3560 $ 2509¢ $ 10,50: 42%
Percentage of net revenues 15% 16% 16% 17%

2013 Compared to 201Research and development expenses decreased hyiibd in 2013 as compared to 2012, primarily doe
$1.6 million decrease in outside contract servioffset by a $0.3 million increase in depreciatéomd amortization related to research and
development equipment and a $0.2 million increaggersonnel-related costs.

2012 Compared to 201Research and development expenses increased ty$illlon in 2012 as compared to 2011, primarilyeda a
$7.8 million increase in personnel-related costa eessult of increases in research and developheaticount. The increase in headcount
reflects our continuing investment in enhancemehexisting products, as well as efforts to brirywproducts to market. In addition, the use
of outside services for the development of new peotgland depreciation and
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amortization related to research and developmarnipetent increased by $1.6 million and $1.0 millieespectively, as compared to 2011.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)
Sales and marketing $ 31,08 $ 2597 $ 510 20% $ 2597¢ $ 17,45« $ 8,51¢ 49%
Percentage of net revenues 13% 12% 12% 12%

2013 Compared to 2013ales and marketing expenses increased by $5ibmiill 2013 as compared to 2012, primarily duentweases
in customer service headcount and operations iredtimand international markets. Personnel-reletsts increased by $4.0 million, which
included a $0.6 million increase in non-cash stbaked compensation. Costs associated with estalglisbr presence in Australia contributed
an additional $1.8 million to the increase in 20IBe increase was partially offset by a decreasearketing expenses primarily attributable to
lower expenditures on trade shows of $0.6 million.

2012 Compared to 2018ales and marketing expenses increased by $8i5miill 2012 as compared to 201frimarily due to increas
in sales and marketing headcount to support highleis volumes and international expansion. Persaoataded costs increased by $6.5 milli
which included a $2.4 million increase due to addg in sales and marketing headcount for inteonafilocations. Costs related to trade
shows, the use of outside services and faciliBéted costs contributed an additional $1.0 miliothe increase in 2012. In addition, bad debt
expense increased by $0.9 million in 2012 as coetpbay 2011.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative $ 23,97( $ 2487t $  (90%) @% $ 2487 $ 15228 $ 9,641 63%
Percentage of net revenues 10% 11% 11% 10%

2013 Compared to 201%eneral and administrative expenses decreased.8yr$llion in 2013 as compared to 2012, primariyaa
result of decreased use of outside consultantpeofdssional services. The decrease in generahdmihistrative expenditures reflected our
ongoing expense management measures.

2012 Compared to 201General and administrative expenses increased Byn§idlion in 2012 as compared to 2011, primaribedo a
$3.6 million increase in personnel-related costa essult of increases in general and adminisedteadcount and a $2.8 million increase in
accounting, legal and other professional servigesrred to assist us with building an infrastruetto support operating as a public compan
addition, depreciation and amortization and fdesitcosts contributed $2.4 million to the incredse to increased capital expenditures and
facilities costs incurred to support our increakeddcount and growth of our business. The remaf®ing million of the increase was
attributable to insurance and other corporate esg®n

Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31, Change in Year Ended December 31, Change in
2013 2012 $ % 2012 2011 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages) (In thousands, except percentages)
Other income (expense), net $ (2,892 $ (6,40¢)0 $ 3,51« 55% $ (6,40¢)0 $ (3,579 $ (2,829 79%

2013 Compared to 2018xther expense decreased by $3.5 million in 201®awared to 2012. The decrease was primarilybatable
to the $2.8 million charge recorded as intereseagp in 2012 upon conversion of our convertibldifaat our IPO. In addition, interest
expense related to outstanding debt balances was lo 2013, as compared to 2012, due to lowerameedebt levels.
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2012 Compared to 2010ther expense increased by $2.8 million in 201@csspared to 2011. The increase was attributalde®®.4
million increase in interest expense, of which $2i8ion was from write-offs of unamortized debsisnce costs and debt discount as a resul
of the early extinguishment of convertible debt tewin loans and the termination of a revolving lafieredit. In addition, foreign currency
losses contributed $0.4 million to the increasee Htreases were partially offset by a $0.8 millitmtrease in the fair value of our convertible
preferred stock warrant prior to the liability bgireclassified as equity upon our IPO.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to our IPO in April 2012, we funded our opt@ras primarily through private placements of catibde preferred stock and
convertible notes, and proceeds from term loansA@ni 4, 2012, we completed our IPO, in which wesued and sold 10,315,151 shares o
common stock and received net proceeds of apprasiy®53.8 million. As of December 31, 2013, wel I$88.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents, which are held primarily in generaaking accounts, and $57.1 million in working ctapiSubstantially all of our cash and cash
equivalents are held in the United States, withrémeainder held in various foreign subsidiaries.

The following table summarizes our cash flows f@ periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net cash used in operating activities $ 872 $ (44,647 $ (367)
Net cash used in investing activities (6,257 (12,990 (14,66:)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (58) 51,43¢ 26,48:

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

We have experienced negative operating cash flewgeainvested significant resources to develop mewsluct offerings and focused on
critical research and development activities rezflito reduce product costs, increase performaratéoster innovation. In addition, we used
cash to expand our operations into new product etarknd geographies and invested in our operatiofiabtructure to support the growth of
our business.

For 2013, net cash used in operating activities$@a8 million . Our net loss of $25.9 million wasbstantially offset by norash charge
and net changes in operating assets and liabilXies-cash items included $7.0 million of deprgoiatand amortization, $6.9 million of stock-
based compensation, a provision for doubtful actah$0.7 million and $0.4 million of non-cashergst expense. In addition, cash provided
by net changes in operating assets and liabilities 10.0 million .

Sources of cash totaled $16.4 million resultingrfran increase of $7.6 million in accounts payadterued liabilities and warranty
obligations, an increase of $5.6 million in defdrrevenues and a $3.2 million decrease from lomegritory levels. The $7.6 million increase
in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and wayrabligations was primarily attributable to a $#nillion increase in warranty obligations,
partially offset by a reduction in accounts payadnid accrued liabilities corresponding with redutee@ntory purchases. The increase in
deferred revenue of $5.6 million relates to ourdirten web-based monitoring service revenues. Eloeedise in inventories was the result of
improved working capital management. Uses of casluded a $5.0 million increase in accounts redgevand a $1.4 million increase in
prepaid expenses and other assets. The increasednnts receivable was primarily due to highezssal the fourth quarter of 2013 as
compared to the same period in 2012.

For 2012, net cash used in operating activities$4as6 million primarily resulting from a net los$38.2 million. The net loss was
partially offset by non-cash items including, degagon and amortization of $5.6 million, stock-bdsompensation of $4.8 million and
interest expense of $4.8 million. In addition, #ffect of changes in net operating assets anditiabiresulted in the use of cash totaling $22.2
million.

The primary use of cash from changes in net opgyassets and liabilities in 2012 was attributablen $18.6 million decrease in
deferred revenues, which was primarily due to sleipi® of products during 2012 for which upfront payrs of $23.0 million were received
from customers in December 2011, as discussed bétaaddition, other uses of cash from changestiroperating assets and liabilities
included an $11.0 million increase in accountsikad#e and an $8.6 million increase in inventoriated purchases, both consistent with the
overall growth of our business in 2012 as comp#we2D11. Offsetting these uses of cash was anadeerin accounts payable of $16.8 million,
which was also driven by the growth of our business
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For 2011, notwithstanding a net loss of $32.3 mnillinet cash used in operating activities was 80lbn , primarily due to a $25.4
million increase in deferred revenues. In Decen®fdrl, we entered into several agreements to setbmverters to customers, with product
delivery in 2012. These agreements were due, in fpathe anticipated expiration of certain goveemtincentives for investments in renew:
energy projects on December 31, 2011. Prior to Béee 31, 2011, we received $29.4 million in cashdwance from these customers, of
which $6.4 million and $23.0 million were recordesirevenues and deferred revenues, respectivelyné@ioss included non-cash charges in
the form of depreciation and amortization of $3illiom, stock-based compensation of $2.1 milliomlaon-cash interest expense of $1.8
million related to the amortization of debt disctauand deferred financing costs. Changes in workapgjtal items other than deferred revenue
used $1.0 million of operating cash flow and caesiof increases in accounts receivable, inverdad/prepaid and other assets offset by
increases in accounts payable, accrued liabiktreswarranty obligations.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities primarilyatek to capital expenditures to support our growth.

For 2013, net cash used in investing activitie$@®8 million included purchases of test and as$getuipment and the development of
software for internal use.

For 2012, net cash used in investing activitie$X8.0 million included purchases of test equipnzart expenditures on leasehold
improvements and furniture and fixtures in conracivith our relocation to a new headquarter facilit

For 2011, net cash used in investing activitie$1ef.7 million included purchases of test equipneemt the development of software for
internal use.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

For 2013, net cash used by financing activities waignificant. Cash received from common stockidggge pursuant to our equity
incentive plans was $2.4 million. These inflowsagh were offset by principal repayments of teramof $2.4 million.

For 2012, net cash provided by financing activipesarily consisted of net proceeds of $56.4 miilreceived from our IPO, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissiortsa@her offering costs paid during 2012. Cash usdthancing activities consisted of
$14.1 million in principal repayments of term loargd $1.0 million in financing costs associatechweitering into new credit facilities in
November 2012. This was partially offset by $10i0iom in proceeds from term loan borrowing

For 2011, net cash provided by financing activitessisted of $19.7 million in net proceeds recgifrem the issuance of our converti
notes, $9.3 million in net proceeds from an equipii@ancing facility and term loans, and $1.9 roiil from the sale of common stock
partially offset by $2.6 million in direct costscimred in connection with the preparation of owistration statement and $2.0 million relate:
payments on our term loans and capital lease dldiga

Debt Obligations

Our debt obligations are summarized below. As afddeber 31, 2013 , we were in compliance with @uied financial covenants of
our debt facilities.

Revolving Credit Facility— We have a $50.0 million revolving credit facilithé “Revolver”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells
Fargo”), which had a maturity date of November@12 On February 14, 2014, we entered into an amentiwhich granted an automatic
extension of the maturity date from November 7,2 November 7, 2016, provided we have not bortbarey amounts under the Additional
Term Loans made available by Hercules Technology@r Capital, Inc. ("Hercules") as described belowptherwise restructure the
Additional Term Loans to the satisfaction of Wéilsrgo. The amount of loans available to be drawdeuthe Revolver is subject to a
borrowing base calculation that limits availabilitya percentage of eligible domestic accountsivabée plus a percentage of the value of
eligible domestic inventory, less certain reserVéslls Fargo and Hercules are parties to an irgditor agreement, pursuant to which Herc
has a first lien on certain of our assets and argkpriority on our other assets. Subject to therareditor agreement, loans under the Revolve
are secured by a pledge of substantially all ofassets other than intellectual property. Loansutite Revolver bear interest in cash at an
annual rate equal to, at our option, either LIBAR ¢base rate” that is comprised of, among othings, the prime rate, plus a margin that is
between 1.5% and 4.258epending on the currency borrowed and the spdeifio of repayment. The Revolver contains custoraffigmative
and negative covenants and events of default, equires us to maintain at least $15.0 million q@idity at all times, of which at least $8.0
million ($5.0 million in the case the
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maturity date is November 7, 2016) must be undravailability. To date, we have not drawn on the étesr and approximately $22.4 million
was available for borrowing as of December 31, 284$=d on eligible accounts receivable and invgridalances pursuant to the agreement.

Term Loans —We have a loan and security agreement with Hescplgrsuant to which we borrowed $7.4 million (thétial Term
Loan"). In addition, we may borrow an additionab¥. million in term loans (the "Additional Term Lasl'), which must be drawn, if at all, not
later than March 31, 2014. To date, we have nat,damnot intend to borrow any Additional Term Logmm®r to its impending expiration on
March 31, 2014 as we believe the amounts availatdier the Revolver expiring in November 2015 (ov&aber 2016 provided we do not
borrow any amounts under the Additional Term Loam#l)be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs dlugh fiscal 2014. We used the proceeds
of the Initial Term Loan to replenish cash on hamidich had previously been used to repay the apmely $7.5 million in other outstanding
term loans. Loans under the Hercules facility hegarest at an annual rate equal to the highei) ¢ii€ prime rate plus 8.25% or (b) 11.5% . All
loans under the Hercules facility will mature onglust 1, 2016. Interest is payable in cash on a npbgasis, and the loans will amortize in
equal monthly installments commencing on MarchQil,£&for the Initial Term Loan. In addition, the iitg includes a $0.6 million end of term
charge due on August 1, 2016. Prepayments of loader the facility are subject to early paymentgtées. Loans under the Hercules facility
are secured by a pledge of substantially all ofamsets other than intellectual property. The Hescfacility does not include any financial
covenants. As of December 31, 2013, the outstarglingipal balance under the Term Loans was $7ldomi, which solely relates to
borrowings under the Initial Term Loan.

Equipment Financing Facility— The Company has an equipment financing facilithwiercules. The equipment financing facility has
a variable interest rate set at the higher of 5. 38b%ve the prime lending rate and 9.0% annuallyexpires July 1, 2014. This facility is
secured by the financed equipment and restrictgbillity to pay dividends and take on certain typeadditional liens. As of December 31,
2013, the outstanding principal balance undeetfiepment financing facility was $1.3 million .

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

Our future capital requirements may vary materiadlyhe future and will depend on many factorsjudag, but not limited to, our rate
of revenue growth, the expansion of our sales aadketing activities and the timing and extent afrsging to support product development
efforts and other costs necessary to support catesly.

We believe our current cash and cash equivaler§8®P million as of December 31, 2013 , togethi¢h Wworrowings expected to be
available under our Revolver with Wells Fargo, Wwidl adequate to fund our debt obligations as veetiua planned capital expenditures and
working capital requirements over the next 12 menth

If additional sources of liquidity were needed, nvay consider new debt or equity offerings, butéhemo assurance that such
transactions could be consummated on acceptalohs t@rat all. Failure to raise sufficient capitddem needed could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations arah€ial position.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our outstanding @sttial obligations as of December 31, 2013 :

Payments Due by Period
Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years More Than 5 Years

(in thousands)

Term Loans $ 8,70¢ % 3,63t % 517C $ — $ =
Interest payments on term loans 1,917 801 1,111 — —
Operating leases 14,097 1,672 3,51¢ 3,15¢ 5,75¢
Purchase commitments under agreements

(1) 87,55! 27,33¢ 34,62: 25,59( —
Total $ 112,26¢ $ 33,35( $ 44,41¢ % 28,74 $ 5,75¢

(1) Represents amounts associated with our cdntracufacturers that are non-cancelable. Such paechbommitments are based on our
forecasted manufacturing requirements and typigalbywide for fulfilment within agreed upon lead-
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times and/or commercially standard lead-timesHergarticular part or product. The timing and amairpayments represent our best
estimate and may change due to changing businesds aad other factors. Certain agreements spedifyef quantities and pricing of
products to be supplied by our contract manufacsuiar periods up to seven years. Of the $87.Ganilincluded in purchase
commitments, $72.5 million are cancelable; howéfveanceled, the agreement requires us to pay tatioa penalties of up to $5.6
million .

As of December 31, 201,3he liability recorded for uncertain tax positsgncluding associated interest and penalties,apasoximately
$0.4 million. Since the ultimate amount and timofgash settlements cannot be predicted due tbitiedegree of uncertainty, liabilities for
uncertain tax positions are excluded from the @mttral obligations table (see Note 11 to the Cadateld Financial Statements).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not engaged in anpalince sheet arrangements including the useuwsftsted finance, special purpose
entities or variable interest entities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Managenent Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generadigepted in the U.S., or GAAP.
Note 2 to our consolidated financial statementgriless the significant accounting policies and radthused in the preparation of «
consolidated financial statements, which requirasagement to make assumptions and estimates athorg events, and apply judgments tha
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue, expenses and the related disclosurebagéeour assumptions, estimates and
judgments on historical experience, current trearts other factors that management believes tolbeamt at the time our consolidat
financial statements are prepared. On a regulas,bas review the accounting policies, assumptiesimates and judgments to ensure tha
consolidated financial statements are presentelgl taid in accordance with GAAP. However, becaugeré events and their effects cannot be
determined with certainty, actual results couldedimaterially from our assumptions and estimalesthe extent that there are material
differences between these estimates and actudis;esur future financial statement presentatiamricial condition, results of operations and
cash flows will be affected.

We consider an accounting policy to be criticat i important to our financial condition and réswof operations, and if it entails
significant judgment, subjectivity and complexity the part of management in its application. Wesater the following to be our critical
accounting policies:

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our microinveststems, which include microinverter units andted accessories, an Envoy
communications gateway device, and an Enlightenas®d monitoring service, to distributors, lamygallers, OEMs and strategic partners.
Enlighten service revenue represented less thaaf4r total revenues for all periods presented.

Revenues from sales of microinverters and relatedssories, and communication gateways are recadjmiben: (i) persuasive evider
of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery of the proi$ has occurred in accordance with the termseo§ales agreement and title of and risk of
loss have passed to the customer; (iii) the sabe s fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectiareasonably assured. Provisions for rebates,
sales incentives, and discounts to customers aiated for as reductions in revenue in the sammegthe related sales are recorded.

Sales of an Envoy communications gateway devidedcour Enlighten web-based monitoring services @hocation of revenue
between the two deliverables is based on the Iséistae of selling price determined by considermgtiple factors, including internal costs,
gross margin and historical pricing practices. AfiBocating the overall consideration from sucle ¢a each deliverable using the best estima
of the selling price, (i) revenue from the saldeof/oy devices is recognized upon shipment, assuaiimajher revenue recognition criteria hi
been met and (ii) revenue from the web-based mangservice is recognized ratably over the estmiaconomic life of the related Envoy
devices of 10 years.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or ragrén a first-in, first-out basis. Certain factomuld affect the realizable value of our
inventories including market and economic condgidechnological changes, new product introductant changes in strategic direction. We
consider historic usage, expected demand, antédpsles price, effect of new product introductjgmmeduct obsolescence, customer
concentrations, product merchantability and othetdrs when evaluating the value of inventoriegeitiory write-downs are equal to the
difference between the cost of inventories and tegimated fair market value.
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We do not believe there is a reasonable likelinbad there will be a material change in the fuggBmates or assumptions that we use t
record inventory at the lower of cost or marketwdwer, if estimates regarding customer demandnaecurate or changes in technology af
demand for certain products in an unforeseen mamm@emay be exposed to losses that could be miateria

Warranty Obligations
Microinverters Sold Through December 31, 2013

Our warranty accrual provides for the replacemémicroinverter units that fail during the produstvarranty term (15 years for first €
second generation microinverters and up to 25 ylearthird and fourth generation microinvertersh @ quarterly basis, we employ a
consistent, systematic and rational methodologstess the adequacy of our warranty obligations. &9sessment includes updating all key
estimates and assumptions for each generatiorodiipt, based on historical results, trends andrbst current data available as of the filing
date. The key estimates and assumptions used imairanty obligations are thoroughly reviewed bynaigement on a quarterly basis. The ke)
estimates used to estimate warranty obligations(ayehe number of units expected to fail overdi(ne. failure rate); (2) the number of failed
units expected to result in warranty claims overeti(i.e. claim rate); and (3) the per unit costegflacement units, including outbound shipping
and limited labor costs, expected to be incurreepdace failed units over time (i.e. replacemerstc

Estimated Failure Rates—Our Quality and Reliability department has primeggponsibility to determine the estimated failuates for
each generation of microinverter. To establishdhfailure rate estimates for each generation wfomnverter, our quality engineers use a
combination of industry standard MTBF (Mean Timdvsen Failure) estimates for individual componetstained in our microinverters,
third party data collected on similar equipmentldged in outdoor environments similar to those inicia our microinverters are installed, and
rigorous long term reliability and accelerated tfgcle testing which simulates the service liféhed microinverter in a short period of time. As
units are deployed into production environmentscatinue to monitor product performance via oulidgirien monitoring platform. It
typically takes three to nine months between the dasale and date of ender installation. Consequently, our ability to monactual failure
of units sold similarly lags by three to nine manttWhen a microinverter fails and is returned, wedqrm diagnostic root cause failure analysic
to understand and isolate the underlying mechasijsoaiusing the failure. We then use the resultBisfanalysis (combined with the actual,
cumulative performance data collected on thosesyaribr to failure via Enlighten) to draw conclussowith respect to how or if the identified
failure mechanism(s) will impact the remaining ardeployed in the installed base.

Estimated Claim Rates—Warranty claim rate estimates are based upon assmnspvith respect to expected customer behavier the
warranty period. As the vast majority of our miengérters have been sold to end users for resideqpj@ications, we believe that warranty
claim rates will be affected over time by changeeesidential home ownership because we expecstisequent homeowners are less likely
to file claims than the homeowners who originallyghase the microinverters.

Estimated Replacement CostsFhree factors are considered in our analysis afheséd replacement cost: (1) the estimated cost of
replacement microinverters; (2) the estimated twship replacement microinverters to end userd;(@nthe estimated labor reimbursement
expected to be paid to third party installers paniog replacement services for the end user. Becauswarranty provides for the replacemen
of defective microinverters over long periods aiféi (either 15 or 25 years, depending on the gdnarat product purchased), the estimated
per unit cost of current and future product genenatis considered in the estimated replacement Esimated costs to ship replacement units
are based on observable, market-based shipping [gaist by us to third party freight carriers. Weda separate program that allows third-
party installers to claim fixed-dollar reimbursertgefor labor costs they incur to replace failed nmilcverter units for a limited time from the
date of original installation. Included in our estited replacement cost is an analysis of the nuofifeced-dollar labor reimbursements
expected to be claimed by third party installersrate limited offering period.

If actual failure rates, claim rates, or replacehuasts differ from our estimates in future periotisanges to these estimates would be
required, resulting in increases or decreasesrinvatrranty obligations. Such increases or decreemalsl be material.

Changes in estimates related to warranty obligatiesulted in net increases in warranty expen$4@f3 million , $7.6 million and $1.8
million in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively. Ske¢e 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fair Value Option for Microinverters Sold Since Jaruary 1, 2014

Our warranty obligations related to microinverteodd since January 1, 2014 provides us the righitnbt the requirement, to assign our
warranty obligations to a third-party. Pursuanftwounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 8Zair Value Measurementsuch warranties
are eligible to be accounted for at fair value. &pect to elect the fair value option to measurel@ible warranties associated with
microinverters sold subsequent to January 1, 2014.

In addition to the key estimates of failure ratdaim rates and replacement costs described abiweégir value of warranty obligations
will require the use of certain Level 3 inputs whare unobservable and significant to the oveaallfalue measurement. Such additional
assumptions will include a discount rate based wporcredit-adjusted riskee rate and a hypothetical profit margin and pekmium require:
of a hypothetical market participant to assumeothl@ation. Warranty obligations initially recordatifair value (computed using an expected
present value technique) at the time of sale weilsbbsequently rmeasured to fair value at each reporting datedtlitian, the fair value of th
liability will be accreted over the correspondimgrh of the warranty of up to 25 years using thedaiVe interest method. Any changes in fair
value of the liability from period-tperiod, including accretion expense, will be redegd in cost of revenues. Warranty obligations rded a
fair value are expected to be lower, as compareditgrevious accounting at estimated costs, piiyndine to the effects of discounting to net
present value.

As of December 31, 2013, warranty obligations v&3@.4 million. Periodic adjustments necessitateddiyal experience of claims and

any future changes in estimates to this liabilggariated with sales prior to December 31, 201Baowittinue to be accounted for on an
undiscounted basis.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risk
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers

We are potentially subject to financial instrumeaicentration of credit risk through our cash eglgmats and accounts receivables. We
place our cash and cash equivalents with high tyuabtitutions and perform periodic evaluationdtwdir relative credit standing. Accounts
receivables can be potentially exposed to a coration of credit risk with our major customers. éfsDecember 31, 2013 , we had amounts
due from two customers that represented 16% anddfQfe total accounts receivable balance. As afdb#ber 31, 2012 , our two largest
accounts receivable balances represented 21% &adflthe total accounts receivable balance. In 2@BL8ustomers accounted for 15% , 14%
and 11% of total net revenues. In 2012 , two custsraccounted for 16% , and 11% of total net regsnin 2011 , three customers accountec
for 17% , 11% and 10% of total net revenues.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We operate and conduct business in foreign cosntvfeere our foreign entities use the local curreaxyheir respective functional
currency and, as a result, are exposed to moverirefaseign currency exchange rates. More spedificave face foreign currency exposure
from the effect of fluctuating exchange rates oyatdes and receivables relating to transactiontsateadenominated in Euros, British Pounds
and Australian and New Zealand Dollars. These pagadnd receivables primarily arise from salesust@amers and intercompany transactis
We also face currency exposure that arises fronslaéing the results of our European, Australiath ldew Zealand operations, including sales
and marketing and research and development expagndbs U.S. dollar at exchange rates that hawaufated from the beginning of a
reporting period.

In June 2012, we began to utilize foreign currefocward contracts to reduce the impact of foreigrrency fluctuations related to
anticipated cash receipts from expected futuremaes denominated in Euros and intercompany transagains or losses. The contracts we
enter into typically have maturities of less thame gear. We do not enter into derivative finantiatruments for trading or speculative
purposes. The foreign currency forward contractsagicounted for as derivatives whereby the fauevalf the contracts is reported as other
current assets or current liabilities in the accanypng consolidated balance sheets, and gainsoasdd resulting from changes in the fair v
are reported in other income (expense), net, imtttempanying consolidated statements of operations

The following table presents the Company’s finahicistruments that were measured at fair value metarring basis by level within the
fair value hierarchy at December 31, 2013 and Z01thousands):

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Foreign currency forward contracts (Level 2) $ 328§ — 605 $ 26¢

The foreign currency exchange rate risk associatédour forward currency exchange contracts istkohas the exposure is substanti
offset by exchange rate changes of the underlyguéd amounts. All outstanding open forward cotdratDecember 31, 2013 matured in
January 2014.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Eaphnergy, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Enphase Energy, Inc. and subsidighesCompany”) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensivedtskholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endec®éer 31, 2013. These consolidated financial statésrare the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these consolidated financiastants based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hamewere we engaged to perform, an audit of isrirdl control over financial reporting.
Our audit includes consideration of internal cohtnger financial reporting as a basis for desigranglit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compamg&rnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autiibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tin@ricial position of Enphase Energy, |
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 20tthe results of their operations and their ¢lasts for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity &itbounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates of America.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 4, 2014
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38,19C $ 45,29:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,000$h 177 32,08t¢ 27,74:
Inventory 16,58( 19,84:
Prepaid expenses and other 3,65¢ 2,11¢
Total current assets 90,50¢ 94,99¢
Property and equipment, net 24,85: 25,54:
Other assets 1,30% 1,752
Total assets $ 116,66¢ $ 122,29:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,36 $ 11,27:
Accrued liabilities 19,72: 19,26¢
Deferred revenues 2,77 933
Current portion of term loans 3,507 2,38¢
Total current liabilities 33,36¢ 33,85t
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred revenues 11,28 7,53
Warranty obligations 25,49( 15,26(
Other liabilities 1,15¢ 307
Term loans 5,17( 8,671
Total long-term liabilities 43,09¢ 31,78
Total liabilities 76,46 65,63¢
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value, 10,000 slzargmrized; none issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.00001 par value, 100,000 shatesraed; 42,123 and 40,856 shares issued anchodisg
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively — —
Additional paid-in capital 192,91¢ 183,62¢
Accumulated deficit (152,939 (127,02¢)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 22¢ 52
Total stockholders’ equity 40,20¢ 56,65t
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 116,66¢ $ 122,29:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

44




Table of Contents

ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net revenues $ 232,84t % 216,67¢ $ 149,52:
Cost of revenues 165,43( 161,39( 120,45-
Gross profit 67,41¢ 55,28¢ 29,06¢
Operating expenses:
Research and development 34,52 35,60: 25,09¢
Sales and marketing 31,08( 25,97: 17,45:
General and administrative 23,97( 24,87 15,22¢
Total operating expenses 89,57 86,44¢ 57,78:
Loss from operations (22,159 (31,167 (28,717)
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense (2,055 (6,43€) (3,00€)
Other income (expense) (837) 30 (572)
Total other expense, net (2,897) (6,40¢€) (3,57¢)
Loss before income taxes (25,050 (37,567 (32,290
Provision for income taxes (863%) (651) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,91) % (38,219 $ (32,290
Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdrs|dasic and diluted $ (0.62) % 129 $ (25.79)
Shares used in computing net loss per share dthikto common stockholders,
basic and diluted 41,64, 30,74 1,25t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,91) $ (38,219 $ (32,29()
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 177 (31) 83
Other comprehensive income (loss): 177 (31) 83
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stocldreld $ (25,730 $ (38,249 $ (32,20))

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands, except per share data)

Convertible Preferred

Accumulated

Other Total

Stock Common Stock Additional  Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income Equity
BALANCE—December 31, 2010 22,22:  $ 93,59 84: $ — 1,40 $ (56,51) $ —  $ 38,48:
Private placement of common stock at $5.27
per share 35¢ — 1,85¢ 1,85¢
Exercise of stock options 50z — 19C 19C
Stock-based compensation 2,12( 2,12(
Fair value of warrants and common stock
issued in connection with convertible not 2,31% 2,31%
Fair value of beneficial conversion feature
upon issuance of convertible notes 1,16 1,16t
Fair value of beneficial conversion feature
from accrued paid-in-kind interest of
convertible notes 55 55
Net loss (32,290 (32,290
Foreign currency translation adjustment 823 83
BALANCE—December 31, 2011 22,22: 93,59¢ 1,69¢ — 9,10¢ (88,809 83 13,97«
Issuance of common stock under employe
stock plans 13¢ — 25E 25E
Stock-based compensation 4,76¢€ 4,76¢
Common stock issued upon initial public
offering (“IPO”), net of offering costs 10,31t — 53,82¢ 53,82¢
Conversion of convertible preferred stock
into common stock upon IPO (22,22) (93,596 25,17: — 93,59¢ —
Conversion of convertible notes and paid-
kind interest into common stock upon 1P 3,53¢ — 21,20« 21,20«
Reclassification of preferred stock warrant
liability to APIC upon IPO 87¢ 87¢
Net loss (38,219 (38,219
Foreign currency translation adjustment (31) (31
BALANCE—December 31, 2012 — — 40,85¢ — 183,62 (127,029 52 56,65"
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock plans 1,25¢ — 2,43¢ 2,43¢
Stock-based compensation 6,84¢ 6,84¢
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
warrants 12 — — —
Net loss (25,919 (25,919
Foreign currency translation adjustment 177 177
BALANCE—December 31, 2013 — % — 42,12: $ — $ 19291t $ (152,93) $ 22¢ % 40,20¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Net loss on disposal of assets
Non-cash interest expense
Stock-based compensation
Change in fair value of convertible preferred steekrants
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and warraftljgations
Deferred revenues
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Costs related to issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from private placement of common stock
Principal payments under capital leases
Proceeds from borrowings under term loans
Payments of financing costs
Repayments of term loans
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under emglstpck plans
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in IPOpinatderwriting discounts and commissions
Payment of offering costs
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents — Beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents — End of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Assets acquired under capital lease
Purchases of property and equipment included iowads payable
Offering costs not yet paid
Conversion of convertible notes into common stgorulPO

Reclassification of convertible preferred stock naat liability to additional paid-in capital upoRO

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ (2591) $ (38219 $ (32,29()
6,981 5,56¢ 3,03

67¢ 1,06¢ 127

82 12¢ 0

42¢ 4,771 1,83

6,84¢ 4,76¢ 2,12(

— (520) 321

(5,019 (11,040 (9,879

3,26: (8,619 (6,709)

(1,450 (712) (1,649

7,641 16,77 17,27

5,581 (18,619 25,44

(872) (44,649 (367)

(6,257 (12,99() (14,66:)

(6,257 (12,990) (14,667

= = 20,00

— — (279

= = 1,85¢

(40) (96) (169

— 10,00 9,89¢

— (1,039 (572)

(2,447 (14,109 (1,869

2,42¢ 25E 19¢

= 58,60¢ =

— (2,199 (2,58%)

(58) 51,43¢ 26,48:

83 (31) 7€

(7,109 (6,230) 11,53

45,29: 51,52 39,99:

$ 38,19 $ 4529: $ 51,52
$ 1,391 $ 1,681 $ 1,23
$ 89¢ $ — % —
$ — % — 3 29t
$ 837 $ 77 $ 902
$ — % — 3 371
$ — 3 2120 $ —
$ — 8 87¢ $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 AND 2010

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Enphase Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Compal®signs, develops, and sells microinverter systéor the solar photovoltaic
industry. The Company was incorporated in 2006k@ghn selling its products in 2008. The Companytgamverter system consists of (i) an
Enphase microinverter and related accessoriestimaiert direct current (“DC”) power to grid-compiiaalternating current (“AC”) power;

(i) an Envoy communications gateway device thdlects and transmits performance information fraaatesolar module to the Company’s
hosted data center; and (iii) the Enlighten webebasoftware platform that collects and processiedriformation to enable customers to
monitor and manage their solar power systems. Tdmepgany sells microinverter systems primarily tarilisitors who resell them to solar
installers. The Company also sells directly to dairstallers as well as through original equipmeanufacturers (“OEMs”) and strategic
partners.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company and its whmliyed subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated firerstatements in conformity with accounting pites generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management tcereakmates and assumptions that affect the repan®unts of assets and liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the financial statements and the redainounts of income and expenses during th
reporting period. These estimates are based omiafion available as of the date of the finandialesnents; therefore, actual results could
differ materially from management’s estimates udgiiferent assumptions or under different condision

Risks and Uncertaintie:

The Company is subject to risks inherent in a legsrwith a limited operating history, includingt bot limited to, new and rapidly
evolving markets, advances and trends in the dpuatat of new technology and services, unfavoratdé@memic and market conditions,
competition from larger and more established corigzgafimited management resources and dependenadimited number of contract
manufacturers and suppliers. The inability to apéite or to respond adequately to technologicaéligments in the Company's industry,
changes in customer or supplier requirements, angés in regulatory requirements or industry stedgleould have a material adverse effect
on the Company's business and operating results.

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company generates revenue from sales of itomierter systems, which include microinvertertsigind related accessories, an
Envoy communications gateway device, and an Erdighteb-based monitoring service, to distributasge installers, OEMs and strategic
partners. Enlighten service revenue representsdhes 1% of the total revenues for all periods@néed.

Revenues from sales of microinverters and relatedssories, and communication gateways are recedjaiben: (i) persuasive evider
of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery of the prog has occurred in accordance with the termkeoales agreement and title of and risk of
loss have passed to the customer; (iii) the sabe |8 fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectiareasonably assured. Provisions for rebates,
sales incentives, and discounts to customers aiated for as reductions in revenue in the sammegthe related sales are recorded.

Sales of an Envoy communications gateway devidedecthe Enlighten web-based monitoring servicea @llocation of revenue
between the two deliverables is based on the Copghest estimate of selling price determined hystering multiple factors including,
internal costs, gross margin and historical priginactices. After allocating the overall considenatfrom such sale to each deliverable using a
best estimate of the selling price, (i) revenuenftbe sale of Envoy
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devices is recognized upon shipment, assumingladr gevenue recognition criteria have been met(@nevenue from the web-based
monitoring service is recognized ratably over thneated economic life of the related Envoy deviocE$0 years.

Deferred revenues consist of payments received fustomers in advance of revenue recognition ferGbmpany’s products and
services described above. As of December 31, 26d2@12, deferred revenues consist entirely ofisemevenue.

Cost of Revenues

The Company includes the following in cost of rewest product costs, warranty, manufacturing perslognd logistics costs, inventory
write-downs, hosting services costs related taGbmpanys Enlighten service offering, and depreciation ambrtization of manufacturing t¢
equipment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmestgch as certificates of deposit and money manstuments with maturities of
three months or less at the time of acquisitiobg@ash equivalents. For all periods presentedagh balances consist of amounts held in nor
interest-bearing deposits and money market accounts

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalaotgunts receivable and accounts payable approxifamtvalue due to their relative
short-term nature. The carrying values of the Camsavariable rate term loans approximate fair #alu

Derivative Instruments

The Company operates and conducts business imfoceuntries where its foreign entities use thalloarrency as their respective
functional currency. As a result, the Company igased to movements in foreign currency exchangsrathe Company utilizes foreign
currency forward contracts to reduce the impadoadign currency fluctuations related to anticigatash receipts from expected future
revenues denominated in Euros and intercompangdcdion gains or losses. The foreign currency faiveantracts are accounted for as
derivatives whereby the fair value of the contragt®ported as other current assets or currdrititias in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, and gains and losses resultingctianges in the fair value are reported in otheorime (expense), net, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Allowances for Doubtful Account:

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®tor uncollectible accounts receivable. Manag@restimates anticipated losses
from doubtful accounts based on days past duesatah history and the financial health of custasnd@ihe allowance for doubtful accounts
$2.0 million and $1.2 milliorat December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Thawimg table sets forth activities in the allowanior doubtfu
accounts for the periods indicated:

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance, at beginning of year $ 1,177 $ 144 $ 17
Charged to expenses 67¢ 1,06¢ 127
Charged to Other Accounts 14~ (35 —
Balance, at end of year $ 2,00C $ 1,177 $ 144

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or markdte Company determines cost on a first-in firdtdmasis. Certain factors could affect
the realizable value of its inventory, includingstamer demand and market conditions. Managemeessas the valuation on a quarterly basis
and writes down the value for any excess and otesglgentory based upon expected demand, anticizaties price, effect of new product
introductions, product obsolescence, customer atretions, product merchantability and other fastémventory write-downs are equal to the
difference between the cost of inventories and tegtimated net realizable market value.
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Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessragated depreciation. Cost includes the price pamcquire or construct the asset as
well as any expenditure that substantially addbéovalue of or significantly extends the usefid bf an existing asset. Repair and mainten
costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation andiaation is computed using the straight-line noettlover the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which range from three to ten years. Leld@hprovements are amortized over the short¢h@lease term or expected useful life of
the improvements.

Capitalized Software Costs

Internally used software, whether purchased or ldgeel, is capitalized and amortized on a straigtg-basis over their estimated useful
lives. Costs associated with internally developaftinsare are expensed until the point at which ttegget has reached the development stage.
Subsequent additions, modifications or upgradaéstésnal-use software are capitalized only to tktet that they provide additional
functionality. Software maintenance and trainingtsare expensed in the period in which they areried. The capitalization of software
requires judgment in determining when a projectreashed the development stage and the periodwhieh the Company expects to benefit
from the use of that software.

Long-Lived Assets

Management evaluates long-lived assets for impaitwéenever events or changes in circumstancesatelthat the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. Recoveratiilagsets to be held and used is measured by aacmmp of the carrying amount of an asse
to future undiscounted net cash flows expectedetgdmerated by the asset. If such assets are eosdith be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by whichdhgriag amount of the assets exceeds the fair \afltiee assets.

Warranty Obligations

Microinverters Sold Through December 31, 2013

The Company’s warranty accrual provides for thdasgment of microinverter units that fail during throduct’'s warranty term ( 15
yearsfor first and second generation microinverters apdo 25 years for third and fourth generation wiitverters). On a quarterly basis, the
Company employs a consistent, systematic and edtinethodology to assess the adequacy of its wgrhaibility. This assessment includes
updating all key estimates and assumptions for gaokration of product, based on historical restriésds and the most current data available
as of the filing date. The key estimates and astomgused in the warranty liability are thoroughdyiewed by management on a quarterly
basis. The key estimates used by the Companyitoagstits warranty liability are: (1) the numberusfits expected to fail over time (i.e. failt
rate); (2) the number of failed units expectedesutt in warranty claims over time (i.e. claim jagnd (3) the per unit cost of replacement
units, including outbound shipping and limited lalosts, expected to be incurred to replace faildts over time (i.e. replacement cost).

Estimated Failure Rates—FThe Company’s Quality and Reliability departmenrs pamary responsibility to determine the estimated
failure rates for each generation of microinverfar.establish initial failure rate estimates foclegeneration of microinverter, the Company’s
quality engineers use a combination of industrpdéad MTBF (Mean Time Between Failure) estimatesrfdividual components contained in
its microinverters, third party data collected anikar equipment deployed in outdoor environmermsilar to those in which the Company’s
microinverters are installed, and rigorous longnteeliability and accelerated life cycle testingigéhsimulates the service life of the
microinverter in a short period of time. As unite @eployed into production environments, the Camypaontinues to monitor product
performance via its Enlighten monitoring platfortitypically takes three to nine months betweendate of sale and date of end-user
installation. Consequently, the Company’s abildyrionitor actual failures of units sold similargk by three to nine months. When a
microinverter fails and is returned, the Compansfgrens diagnostic root cause failure analysis tdaratand and isolate the underlying
mechanism(s) causing the failure. The Company tises the results of this analysis (combined wighattual, cumulative performance data
collected on those units prior to failure via Ehlign) to draw conclusions with respect to how ¢héf identified failure mechanism(s) will
impact the remaining units deployed in the insthbbase.

Estimated Claim Rates—Warranty claim rate estimates are based upon assmnspvith respect to expected customer behavier the
warranty period. As the vast majority of the Compamicroinverters have been sold to end usersdsidential applications, the Company
believes that warranty claim rates will be affedigcchanges over time in residential
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home ownership because the Company expects thedgubnt homeowners are less likely to file clainantthe homeowners who originally
purchase the microinverters.

Estimated Replacement CostsFhree factors are considered in the Company’s aisatf estimated replacement cost: (1) the estidnate
cost of replacement microinverters; (2) the estadatost to ship replacement microinverters to essita) and (3) the estimated labor
reimbursement expected to be paid to third pastaiters performing replacement services for thee @ser. Because the Company’s warranty
provides for the replacement of defective micronaes over long periods of time (either 15 ory2ars, depending on the generation of pro
purchased), the estimated per unit cost of cuardtfuture product generations is considered iretfienated replacement cost. Estimated cos
to ship replacement units are based on observalaiket-based shipping costs paid by the Compalttyiria party freight carriers. The
Company has a separate program that allows thity-pestallers to claim fixed-dollar reimbursemefuds labor costs they incur to replace
failed microinverter units for a limited time frothe date of original installation. Included in tBempany’s estimated replacement cost is an
analysis of the number of fixed-dollar labor reimdgements expected to be claimed by third partyliess over the limited offering period.

If actual failure rates, claim rates, or replacetrearsts differ from the Company’s estimates in fetperiods, changes to these estimates
would be required, resulting in increases or desgedn the Company’s warranty obligations. Sucheiases or decreases could be material.

Fair Value Option for Microinverters Sold Since Jaruary 1, 2014

The Company’s warranty obligations related to miiverters sold since January 1, 2014 provide thea@amy the right, but not the
requirement, to assign its warranty obligationa third-party. Pursuant to Accounting Standardsif@adion ("ASC") 820, Fair Value
Measurement, such warranties are eligible to bewated for at fair value. The Company expects ¢gtethe fair value option to measure all
eligible microinverter warranties for microinveesold subsequent to January 1, 2014.

In addition to the key estimates of failure ratdaim rates and replacement costs described abwwéair value of warranty obligations
will require the use of certain Level 3 inputs whare unobservable and significant to the ovesdilvfalue measurement. Such additional
assumptions will include a discount rate based uperCompany's credit-adjusted risk-free rate ahgpmthetical profit margin and risk
premium required of a hypothetical market partioipt@ assume the obligation. Warranty obligatiorigally recorded at fair value (computed
using an expected present value technique) atrtteedf sale will be subsequently re-measured toviaiue at each reporting date. In addition,
the fair value of the liability will be accretedethe corresponding term of the warranty of ug3qears using the effective interest method.
Any changes in fair value of the liability from jpea-to-period, including accretion expense, willreeognized in cost of revenues.

If actual failure rates, claim rates, replacemersts, discount rate or the other additional assiompdiffer from the Compang’estimate
in future periods, changes to these estimates wmileéquired, resulting in increases or decreasti®i Company’s warranty obligations. Such
increases or decreases could be material.

As of December 31, 2013, warranty obligations v&3@.4 million . Periodic adjustments necessitateddiual experience of claims and
any future changes in estimates to this liabilggariated with sales prior to December 31, 201Baowittinue to be accounted for on an
undiscounted basis.

Research and Development Co

The Company expenses research and developmentsasisurred. Research and development costsddk&.5 million , $35.6 million
and $25.1 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respebkt

Stock-Based Compensation

Share-based payments are required to be recognizled Companys consolidated statements of operations basedeirfair values an
the estimated number of shares expected to vestCbmpany measures stock-based compensation expeiadleshare-based payment
awards, including stock options made to employeesdirectors, based on the estimated fair valugbeidate of the grant. The fair value of
stock options granted is estimated using the Bicieles option valuation model. The fair valueasitricted stock units granted is determinec
based on the price of the Company's common sto¢kedate of grant. Stock-based compensation,fresttionated forfeitures, is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the requisite serpigod, which is typically four years.
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Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two componentdpastand other comprehensive income (loss). Oth@pcehensive income (loss)
refers to gains and losses that are recorded aelearent of stockholders’ equity but are excludednfinet income. The Company’s other
comprehensive income (loss) consists of foreignetay translation adjustments for all periods pmése:

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asdéiadnility method, which requires the recognitioihdeferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected tax consequences mip@rary differences between the tax bases of agrdthabilities for financial reporting
purposes and amounts recognized for income taopes In estimating future tax consequences, gignalieexpected future events other tf
enactments or changes in the tax law or ratesaargidered. Valuation allowances are provided whemessary to reduce deferred tax assets t
the amount expected to be realized.

The Company operates in various tax jurisdictiams ia subject to audit by various tax authoritilse Company follows accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes which requires thattétxeeffects of a position be recognized only isitmore likely than not” to be sustained
based solely on its technical merits as of the ntépdate. The Company considers many factors vevatuating and estimating its tax
positions and tax benefits, which may require gd@adjustments and which may not accurately gydiei actual outcomes.

3. INVENTORY

Inventory as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , ctmsfghe following (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Raw materials $ 1,42¢ $ 2,22
Finished goods 15,15: 17,62(
Total inventory $ 16,58 $ 19,84:

In 2013, no significant write-downs of inventori@ere made. In 2012 and 2011 , the Company recoxtiéetdowns of inventories of
$0.8 million and $2.7 million , respectively.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , property anipetgnt, net consists of the following (in thousands

December 31,
Estimated Useful

Life (Years) 2013 2012

Equipment and machinery 5 $ 21,85: $ 18,72
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 2,831 2,78¢
Computer equipment 3 1,84z 1,68¢
Capitalized software 3-5 7,34 5,76(
Leasehold improvements 3-10 5,881 5,64
Construction in progress 1,702 1,41¢
Total 41,45¢ 36,02(

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (16,60¢) (10,479
Property and equipment, net $ 24,850 § 25,54!

Depreciation expense was $5.5 million , $4.4 milland $2.3 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011, retipely.
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Capitalized Developed or Purchased Internal-Use Sofare —Capitalized software costs are being amortizeabtgtover the
estimated useful lives and are included within aiation expense in the amount of $1.5 million ,2phillion and $0.7 million for 20132012
and 2011 , respectively.

The following table summarizes capitalized intefasé software costs (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Net of Net of
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Cost Amortization Gross Cost Amortization
Developed internal-use software $ 3322 % 1,33 $ 257C % 1,05
Purchased software for internal use 4,021 2,311 3,19( 2,221
Total software $ 7,34:  $ 3,64. % 576 $ 3,28(

The estimated future aggregate amortization expfmsaxisting internal-use software as of Decen81er2013 is expected to be $1.7
million in 2014, $1.2 million in 2015 and $0.7 nwlh in 2016.

5. WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS

The Company’s warranty activities during 2013 ,2@hd 2011 were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance, at beginning of year $ 21,33¢ 8,73t $ 2,66¢
Accruals for warranties issued during the year 6,30z 8,21¢ 5,27¢
Changes in estimates 10,30z 7,601 1,751
Settlements (7,512 (3,229 (960)
Balance, at end of year 30,43: 21,33¢ 8,73¢
Less current portion included in accrued liabititie (4,942 (6,07¢) (2,00%)
Long-term portion $ 2549 $ 15,26( $ 6,73:<

The Company sold approximately 1.0 million secoadegation microinverters from 2009 through mid-20M2e Company has sold
approximately 3.5 million third generation microémers since mid-2012 and continues to sell suietl generation microinverters. The
Company has sold 150,000 fourth generation micextevs since mid-2013.

Changes in Estimates

On a quarterly basis, the Company uses the beshasticomplete underlying information availabldldaing a consistent, systematic
and rational methodology to determine its warraniijjgations. The Company considers all availabldewce to assess the reasonableness
key assumptions underlying its estimated warrabtigations for each generation of microinvertereTanges in estimates discussed below
arose from new information available to managemedtsubsequent developments, and accordingly, fetter insight and improved
judgment. Changes in estimates included in theetabbve were comprised of the followil

2013

In 2013, primarily in the second, third and fougilnarters, the Company experienced actual failurés eecond generation
microinverters that exceeded its then current failate estimate. Based on continuing analysigetf performance data and diagnostic root-
cause failure analysis performed on returned utiesCompany concluded that it was necessary tease the estimated failure rates for its
second generation product and recorded additioasdanty expense of $19.5 million in 2013 (includ®®5 million in the three months ended
December 31, 2013). During the third quarter of20akhe Company recorded a reduction to warrantgese of $3.1 million related to a
decrease in the expected failure rate of the Cogipdinird generation product. The Company conclutietithere was sufficient historical data
of actual field performance of previously sold thgeneration products to support a lower estimfitare rate.
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In addition, the Company updated its estimatedrclates for its second and third generation pradregulting in a decrease to warranty
expense of $4.2 million . The revision to estimatkdm rates was based on the Company’s obsergtarital end user behavior and
assumptions with respect to expected customer whawer the 15 or 25 year warranty term.

Also, the Company decreased warranty expense Byriillion (including $1.7 million in the three mdrgt ended December 31, 2013),
primarily to reflect estimated lower costs to proddiourth generation microinverters to fulfill wanty obligations for second and third
generation microinverters.

2012

In 2012, primarily in the third and fourth quarteitse Company experienced actual failures of it®sd generation microinverters that
exceeded its then current failure rate estimateeBa&n continuing analysis of field performancedatd diagnostic root-cause failure analysis
performed on returned units, the Company concluadatit was necessary to increase the estimatkodaates for its second generation
product and recorded additional warranty expenskl6f2 million in 2012 (including $2.4 million ilé three months ended December 31,
2012).

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company revisedlaim rate estimate to reflect a decreaseerpttrcentage of end users who are abl
to access their system’s performance data usingnlighten monitoring service. Approximately 809@ percent of end users have purchased
systems that include Enlighten. End users who hat@urchased Enlighten do not have access tcathe sverter-level performance data as
end users using Enlighten and, consequently asdiledy to make warranty claims. In 2012, basedbservation of historical results, the
Company confirmed that non-Enlighten end usersahladver claim rate than originally estimated. A®sult, warranty expense decreased by
$0.5 million to reflect this information.

In addition, the Company recorded a reduction toravey expense of $2.1 million related to replacetwests, primarily comprised of a
$1.9 million reduction in shipping costs. Beginninghe third quarter of 2012, the Company revigethusiness practice to utilize non-
expedited shipping terms for future replacementsynésulting in the reduction in estimated futteplacement costs.

2011

In 2011, warranty expense included $1.8 milliorutisg from changes in estimates to reflect inceglasstimated replacement costs for
second generation products.

6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The accounting guidance defines fair value as ttoe phat would be received from selling an assgtaid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantb@imeasurement date. When determining the failevaleasurements for assets and liabi
required to be recorded at fair value, the Compmamgsiders the principal or most advantageous mankehich it would transact and considers
assumptions that market participants would use vginiemg the asset or liability, such as inhereésit,rtransfer restrictions, and risk of
nonperformance.

The fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maxe the use of observable inputs and minimizeufeeof unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. An asset’s or liability’s @gbrization within the fair value hierarchy is béisgon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Threelof inputs may be used to measure fair value:

. Level 1—Valuations based on quoted prices iivaaharkets for identical assets or liabilitiesttttee Company is able to access.
Since valuations are based on quoted prices thatadily and regularly available in an active nearikaluation of such assets or
liabilities do not entail a significant degree nfigment.

. Level 2—Valuations based on one or more quotantp in markets that are not active or for whittlsignificant inputs are
observable, either directly or indirectly.

. Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservalesigmificant to the overall fair value measuren

Derivative Instruments— The Company utilizes foreign currency forward canots to reduce the impact of foreign currency tiatibns
arising from both sales and purchases denominatEdrios and the British Pound Sterling. As of
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December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the aggregate gréismalbamounts of outstanding foreign currency famvcontracts were $12.5 million and
$6.1 million , respectively. All outstanding opamiard contracts at December 31, 2013 maturedninalg 2014.

The following table presents the Company’s finahicistruments that were measured at fair value mtarring basis by level within the
fair value hierarchy at December 31, 2013 and Z01thousands):

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Foreign currency forward contracts (Level 2) $ 328§ — 605 $ 26¢

In 2013 and 2012 , the Company recognized net$osc$80.4 million and $0.5 million related to fagaicurrency forward contracts,
respectively.

7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company'’s long-term debt was comprised of tflewing at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousgnd

December 31,

2013 2012
Term loans $ 7,400 $ 7,40(
Equipment financing facility, net of unamortizedgcthunt of $31 and $94, respectively 1,27 3,661
Total debt 8,67 11,06:
Less current portion (3,507 (2,389
Long-term portion $ 517C  $ 8,671

As of December 31, 2013 , the amount of futureqgipial repayments due on the total debt is as fal@w thousands):

2014 $ 3,53¢
2015 2,97:
2016 2,19
Total $ 8,70¢

Revolving Credit Facility —The Company has a $50.0 million revolving crediifity (the “Revolver”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A
(“Wells Fargo”), which had a maturity date of Novieen 7, 2015. On February 14, 2014, the Companyeghiato an amendment which
granted an automatic extension of the maturity &tat@ November 7, 2015 to November 7, 2016, pradittee Company has not borrowed any
amounts under the Additional Term Loans made abigilby Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc. €feliles") as described below, or
otherwise restructure the Additional Term Loanthesatisfaction of Wells Fargo. The amount of awailable to be drawn under the
Revolver is subject to a borrowing base calculatiat limits availability to a percentage of eligilomestic accounts receivable plus a
percentage of the value of eligible domestic ingentless certain reserves. Wells Fargo and Hescade parties to an intercreditor agreement,
pursuant to which Hercules has a first lien onaiarbf the Company's assets and a second priaritis@ther assets. Subject to the intercre
agreement, loans under the Revolver are securedobgdge of substantially all of the Company's assther than intellectual property. Loans
under the Revolver bear interest in cash at anamate equal to, at the Company's option, eithBAR or a “base rate” that is comprised of,
among other things, the prime rate, plus a matgahis between 1.5% and 4.25% depending on themcyrborrowed and the specific term of
repayment. The Revolver contains customary affiiveand negative covenants and events of defaxdty@quires the Company to maintain at
least $15.0 million of liquidity at all times, ofhich at least $8.0 million ( $5.0 million in theseathe maturity date is November 7, 2016) must
be undrawn availability. To date, the Company hasdnawn on the Revolver and approximately $22 Hianiwas available for borrowing as
of December 31, 2013 based on eligible accountsvalsle and inventory balances pursuant to theeageet.

56




Table of Contents

Term Loans —The Company has a loan and security agreementtgtbules, pursuant to which it borrowed $7.4 willithe "Initial
Term Loan"). In addition, the Company may borrowaalditional $15.6 million in term loans (the "Addital Term Loans"), which must be
drawn, if at all, not later than March 31, 2014.daie, the Company has not, and does not intehdrtow any Additional Term Loans prior to
its impending expiration on March 31, 2014. The @any used the proceeds of the Initial Term Loarepbenish cash on hand, which had
previously been used to repay the approximately $illion in other outstanding term loans. Loanslemthe Hercules facility bear interest at
an annual rate equal to the higher of (i) the pniate plus 8.25% or (b) 11.5% . All loans underttggcules facility will mature on August 1,
2016. Interest is payable in cash on a monthlyshasid the loans will amortize in equal monthlytaisments commencing on March 1, 2014
for the Initial Term Loan. In addition, the facjlitncludes a $0.6 million end of term charge duédagust 1, 2016. Prepayments of loans unde
the facility are subject to early payment penaltigsmns under the Hercules facility are secured pledge of substantially all of the Compali
assets other than intellectual property. The Hectdcility does not include any financial covesarts of December 31, 2013, the outstandin
principal balance under the Term Loans was $7.4ami| which solely relates to borrowings under thigial Term Loan.

Equipment Financing Facility— The Company has an equipment financing facilitthwdercules. The equipment financing facility has
a variable interest rate set at the higher of 5.ab%ve the prime lending rate and 9.0% annuallyexpires July 1, 2014. This facility is
secured by the financed equipment and restrict€tmpany’s ability to pay dividends and take ortaartypes of additional liens. As of
December 31, 2013 , the outstanding principal lamder the equipment financing facility was $hiBion .

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases—The Company leases office facilities under nonckatde operating leases that expire on various datesigh 202z
The terms of the lease agreements generally prdoidental payments on a graduated basis, andindeases require the Company to pay its
portion of executory costs such as taxes, insuraarnmoperating expenses. The Company recogniaesxpense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Rent expense for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $2.®mill$2.4 million and $1.2 million , respectively.

The Company’s minimum lease payments under nontatriesoperating leases, exclusive of executorysc@st of December 31, 2013
are as follows (in thousands):

2014 $ 1,672
2015 1,74¢
2016 1,76¢
2017 1,55¢
2018 1,59¢
Thereafter 5,75¢

Total minimum lease payments $ 14,09:

Purchase Obligations—The Company has contractual obligations to purelga®ds and services, which specify fixed or mimimu
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum, orafale price provisions; and the approximate timihthe transaction. Purchase obligations do
not include contracts that may be canceled witpeualty.

The Company utilizes third parties to manufacttsgroducts. As of December 31, 2013 , the Compadlypurchase obligations with
third party manufacturers and suppliers totalingragimately $87.6 million . Certain agreements #ydature quantities and pricing of
products to be supplied by the Company's contractufacturers for periods up to seven years . O$&¥6 million included in purchase
obligations, $72.5 million are cancelable; howea¥eanceled, the agreement requires the Compapgyaancellation penalties of up to $5.6
million .

Contingencies—From time to time, the Company may be involveditigation relating to claims arising out of its @ations. The
Company is not currently involved in any matereggdl proceedings. The Company may, however, béviesddan material legal proceedings in
the future. Such matters are subject to uncertaintythere can be no assurance that such leg&ettings will not have a material adverse
effect on its business, results of operations it position or cash flows.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Initial Public Offering

On April 4, 2012, the Company completed its inipablic offering ("IPO"), issuing 10,315,151 shacds£ommon stock at an offering
price of $6.00 per share. The net proceeds fronsdleof the shares were $53.8 million , after dédg the underwriters’ discounts and
commissions of $3.3 million and other offering sost $4.8 million . Upon consummation of the IPe Company’s 22,220,856 outstanding
shares of convertible preferred stock ( $93.6 onilicarrying value) were automatically converted 25,171,017 shares of common stock, anc
the $21.2 million outstanding balance of princiaatl accrued paid-in-kind interest in convertibléesovere automatically converted into
3,533,988 shares of common stock at a conversioa pgual to the IPO price of $6.p@r share. As a result, the Company recorded ayeta
$2.8 million to interest expense in 2012 for théreguishment of debt related to the unamortized @é=uance costs and debt discounts.

Common Stock Warrants

Prior to its IPO, the Company issued convertibkefgnred stock warrants in connection with severarfcing transactions. These
warrants automatically converted into warrantsuochase common stock upon the consummation ofR@e |

As of December 31, 2013, warrants to purchase Z@3Hares of the Company's common stock remainsthoding with exercise
prices ranging from $5.27 to $6.17 . Such warrantésexercisable and will expire on various datemf2016 through 2021.

10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Description of Equity Incentive Plans

2006 Plan—Under the Company's 2006 Equity Incentive Plage (2006 Plan”), equity awards granted generallyt wesr a four -year
period from the date of grant with a contractuaintef up to 10 years . As of December 31, 201&rehwere 5.2 million shares of common
stock outstanding under the 2006 Plan. No furthmrksoptions or other stock awards may be grantettuthe 2006 Plan.

2011 Plan—Under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “201arP), the Company may, initially, issue up to 2,d43 shares of its
common stock pursuant to stock options, stock ajpgtien rights, restricted stock awards, restricttmtk unit awards, performanbesed stoc
awards, and other forms of equity compensatiogptiectively, stock awards, all of which may berge to employees, including officers, ¢
to non-employee directors and consultants. Optiwasted under the 2011 Plan before August 1, 2@b2mlly expire 10 years after the grant
date and options granted thereafter generally expirears after the grant date. Equity awards gdambder the 2011 Plan generally vest over
four -year period from the date of grant basedamtinued employment. The number of shares of theamy's common stock authorized for
issuance under the 2011 Plan will automaticallyaase, on each January 1, by 4.5% of the total runfishares of the Company's common
stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceditendar year, or such lesser number of sharesnofinom stock as determined by the board
of directors. As of December 31, 2013 , 586,524eshaf common stock remained available for issuaocsuant to future grants under the
2011 Plan. On January 1, 2014, the shares autddigzéssuance under the 2011 Plan automaticatlisesed by 1,895,541 shares.

2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plar-The 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPPgrheceffective immediately upon the
execution and delivery of the underwriting agreetiienthe Company’s IPO on March 29, 2012. The E8fRlly authorizes the issuance of
669,603 shares of the Company's common stock mursm@urchase rights granted to employees. Thebeuwf shares of common stock
reserved for issuance will automatically increaseeach January 1, by 330,396 shares of the Corigpamyimon stock or a lesser number of
shares of common stock as determined by the Congphaogrd of directors.

The ESPP is implemented by concurrent offeringguisriand each offering period may contain up to fot@rim purchase periods. In
general, offering periods consists of the 24 mop#rsods commencing on each May 1 and Novemberalcalendar year.

Generally, all full time employees, including exéee officers, are eligible to participate in th&EP. The ESPP permits eligible
employees to purchase the Company’s common stockdh payroll deductions, which may not exceed B%e employee’s total
compensation subject to certain limits. Stock maybrchased under the plan at a price equal to
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85% of the fair market value of the Company’s stonleither the date of purchase or the first dagrobffering period, whichever is lower. A
two year look-back feature in the Company's ESRBa&=man offering period to reset if the fair vadfithe Company’s common stock on a
purchase date is less than that on the initiarioffedate for that offering period. The reset featuvhen triggered, will be accounted for as a
modification to the original offering, resulting additional expense to be recognized over the Z¥htimperiod of the new offering. During any
calendar year, participants may not purchase sladi@smmon stock having a value greater than $2Zb,@&sed on the fair market value per
share of the common stock at the beginning of &riafy period.

As of December 31, 2013, there were 613,984 sludrtbhe Company's common stock available for isseamder the ESPP. On January
1, 2014, the shares authorized for issuance uhddt $PP automatically increased by 330,396 shares.

Valuation of Equity Awards
Stock Options

The fair value of each option granted was estimatethe date of grant using the Black-Scholes oppigcing model with the following
assumptions:

» Expected ter— The expected term of the option awards represbatpériod of time between the grant date of theoomwards and
the date the option awards are either exercisatjerted or canceled, including an estimate foretmsion awards still outstanding.

» Expected volatilit— The Company uses the simplified method, as penhityethe SEC for companies with a limited histofgimck
option exercise activity, to determine the expedtsenh for its option grants. Expected stock priotatility is determined based on an
average of the historical volatilities of the commatock of several companies with characterisiicdlar to those of the Company.

» Risk-free interest rate-Fhe risk-free interest rate is based on the U.8aJury yield curve in effect at the time of gramd avith a
maturity that approximates the Company's expeasd.t

» Dividend yiele— The dividend yield is based on the Company's dividieistory and the anticipated dividend payout dgigeexpected
term.
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The assumptions used in calculating fair valuestock options granted under the Plan and thetesguleightecaverage estimated f
values for the periods presented are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected term (in years) 4.4 5.7 6.C
Expected volatility 68.4% 74.5% 72.(%
Annual risk-free rate of return 1.C% 0.S% 1.8%
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Weighted-average fair value on grant date $ 3.8 % 46 % 5.0¢

Restricted Stock Uni

The fair value of restricted stock units grantedaesermined based on the price of the Company'sremmstock on the date of grant.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the components @l stock-based compensation expense includeckindhsolidated statement of
operations for the periods presented (in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cost of revenues $ 43¢ $ 19€ $ 39
Research and development 2,11C 1,72¢ 79t
Sales and marketing 1,81z 1,25¢ 671
General and administrative 2,48¢ 1,58¢ 61t

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 684¢ § 4,76€ $ 2,12(

The following table summarizes stock-based comp&msassociated with each type of award:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Stock options and restricted stock units $ 6,312 % 451¢ % 2,12(
ESPP 53t 247 —

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 6,84¢ 4,766 $ 2,12(

As of December 31, 2013 , there was approximat&®.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost relatednieested equi
awards, net of expected forfeitures, which is eigxbto be recognized over a weighted-average pefi@db years .

No income tax benefit has been recognized relatngtockbased compensation expense and no tax benefitshiemrerealized fro
exercised stock options.
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Equity Awards Activity

Stock Options
A summary of the Company'’s stock option activity 813 , 2012 and 2011 is as follows (in thousargsept per share data):

Weighted-
Average
Exercise Price

Shares per Share
Options outstanding — December 31, 2010 580z $ 0.9C
Granted 1,11C 6.1¢€
Exercised (502) 0.3¢
Canceled (159 2.82
Options outstanding — December 31, 2011 6,25¢ 1.8¢
Granted 2,47¢ 7.3t
Exercised (59) 1.2¢
Canceled (50€) 5.5
Options outstanding — December 31, 2012 8,16¢ 3.2¢
Granted 1,50¢ 7.17
Exercised (822) 1.6¢
Canceled (3449 7.74
Options outstanding — December 31, 2013 8,50¢ 3.9/

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding at December 31, 2013 :
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Remaining Average Number of Average
Shares Life Exercise Shares Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) Price

$0.27 — $0.91 2,42¢ 5.5 $ 0.2¢ 2,42¢ % 0.2¢
$1.63 — $1.63 1,66: 6.5 1.6 1,48¢ 1.63
$2.00 — $5.78 1,20¢ 6.3 3.87 617 3.32
$5.87 — $7.50 1,37¢ 7.4 6.91 42¢ 7.0C
$7.68 — $8.82 1,28( 7.3 8.0¢ 30¢ 8.2¢
$9.40 — $11.00 554 7.7 10.0¢4 287 9.9¢
Total 8,50¢ 6.6 3.94 5,551 2.4¢

The intrinsic value of options exercised during 2@hd 2012 was $3.2 million and $0.3 million , exsfvely. As of December 31, 2013
there were 8.3 million options outstanding thateveested and expected to vest. Such options hawstghted-average exercise price of $3.87
and a weighted-average remaining contractual térénSoyears . As of December 31, 2013, the aggeegéinsic value was $23.5 million for
the 5.6 million exercisable shares. The intrinsitue is based on the Company’s common stock faievaf $6.34 per share as@écember 31
2013.
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Restricted Stock Uni

The following is a summary of restricted stock wagtivity for 2013 and 2012 (in thousands, exceptghare data):

Weighted Average
Fair Value per Share

Restricted Stock at
Units Grant Date

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 — 3 —

Granted 282 5.6¢

Vested (20 2.00

Canceled 149 6.90
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 24¢ 5.5

Granted 28t 6.9z

Vested (207) 6.0¢

Canceled (8 7.07
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 41¢ 6.31

The intrinsic value of restricted stock units velstieiring 2013 and 2012 was $0.8 million and $39,0@3pectively. As of December 31,

2013, the restricted stock units outstanding haeighted average remaining contractual term ofygds with an intrinsic value of $2.6
million .

ESPP

The following is a summary of ESPP activity for 30dnd 2012 and (in thousands, except per sharg data

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Proceeds from common stock issued under ESPP $ 1,047 % 18t
Shares of common stock issued 327 59
Weighted-average price per share $ 32 % 3.14

11. INCOME TAXES

No provision for U.S. federal or state income talxas been made due to cumulative losses sincethmencement of operations.

A provision for income taxes of $0.9 million and. $@nillion has been recognized for 2013 and 20E3pectively, related to the
Company's foreign operations.

A reconciliation of total income tax expense ang dmount computed by applying the federal statutargme tax rate of 34% to loss
before income taxes for 2013, 2012 and 2011 fsllsws (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Income tax benefit at statutory rate $ (8,517) $ (22,779 $ (10,889
State taxes, net of federal benefit (883 (1,47¢) (1,956
Change in valuation allowance 8,35: 12,57¢ 12,45:
Stock-based compensation 1,191 1,12¢ 47¢
Other 45E 1,027 (92)
Uncertain tax positions 264 17z —

Provision for income taxes $ 86 $ 651 $ —
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A summary of significant components of the Compargéferred tax assets and liabilities as of Dece®bg2013 and 2018 as follow:
(in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012

Current:
Reserves and allowances $ 1452. % 11,52
Valuation allowance (24,52) (11,529

Total current — —
Non-current:
Net operating losses 16,84( 14,36
Stock-based compensation 1,531 91¢
Deferred revenue 2,73( 1,42¢
Fixed assets and intangibles 11,67( 10,30:
Other 47¢€ 88C
Valuation allowance (33,249 (27,889

Total non-current 2 —
Deferred tax liability = =
Net deferred tax assets $ 2 % —

Due to the history of losses the Company has geresince inception, the Company believes thatntore-likely-thamot that all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized as of Bber 31, 2013 Therefore, the Company has recorded a full vadnatllowance on its deferr
tax assets.

The Company has net operating loss carryforwandfefteral and California income tax purposes ofrapimnately $61.3 million and
$53.0 million , respectively, as of December 31120The federal and state net operating loss fwamwgrds, if not utilized, will expire
beginning in 2026 and 2016, respectively. Utiliaatdf the net operating loss carryforwards mayuigext to a substantial annual limitation
due to the ownership change limitations providedHgyinternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendedCibee"), and similar state provisions.
The annual limitation may result in the expiratafmet operating losses before utilization. The @any has not completed a study to assess
whether an ownership change has occurred or whtber have been multiple ownership changes she€bmpany became a “loss
corporation” under the Code. Due to the existerfdhe@valuation allowance, it is not expected @y possible limitation will have an impact
on the results of operations or financial positiéithe Company.

A share option exercise may result in a tax deduqrior to the actual recognition of the relatedess tax benefit because the Compan:
has a net operating loss carryforward. The Comparet operating losses include $201,000 of exdesk sption benefits that will be reflected
as a credit to additional paid-in capital whenizgidl.

The accounting for uncertain tax positions presia recognition threshold and measurement atrfioutthe financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position takerxpected to be taken in a tax return. The Compmrequired to recognize in the
financial statements the impact of a tax positibthat position is more-likely-thanet of being sustained on audit, based on the tegehmerits
of the position. The gross unrecognized tax benbfitve increased from $160,000 at December 31, 20$276,000 at December 31, 2013,
due to increases in tax positions for the curreatryf $137,000 and increases in tax positiongifior year of $79,000 . The unrecognized tax
benefits of $376,000 at December 31, 2013, ifgaected, would reduce the Company's annual effettixeate. The Company also accrued
interest and penalties of $47,000 related to unyeized tax benefits during 2013.

The Company does not have any tax positions fochvhiis reasonably possible the total amount osgmunrecognized tax benefits will
increase or decrease over the next year. The uymezel tax benefits may increase or change duhiegéxt year for items that arise in the
ordinary course of business. The Company recoginizeest and penalties related to uncertain taitipns in income tax expense.

The Company’s tax returns continue to remain sutigeexamination by U.S. federal authorities fag frears 2010 through 2013 and by
California state authorities for the years 2009tigh 2013.
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12. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND MAJOR CUSTOMER S

The Company is potentially subject to financiatinment concentration of credit risk through itsitand cash equivalents and account:
receivable. The Company places its cash and cashadgnts with high quality institutions and perfts periodic evaluations of their relative
credit standing. Accounts receivable can be pabyntxposed to a concentration of credit risk withmajor customers. As of December 31,
2013, the Company had amounts due from two custothat represented 16% and 10% of the total acsaeneivable balance. As of
December 31, 2012 , its two largest accounts rabivbalances represented 21% and 16% of theatttalints receivable balance. In 2013 ,
three customers accounted for 15% , 14% and 11%talfnet revenues. In 2012 , two customers aceaufor 16% and 11% of total net
revenues. In 2011 , three customers accounted/fidr,111% and 10% of total net revenues.

13. NET LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCK HOLDERS

In April 2012, all of the Company’s then outstargltonvertible preferred stock automatically coneerihto common stock in
connection with its IPO. For periods that endedmtd the conversion, basic and diluted net incperecommon share were presented in
conformity with the two-class method required fartipating securities.

Under the two-class method, net loss is allocagtadiden common shares and other participating sEsutd the extent that the securities
are required to share in the losses. The Compawyrgertible preferred stock did not meet the d&éiniof a participating security in periods of
net losses as the convertible preferred stockheldiernot have a contractual obligation to sharténCompany’s losses. Accordingly, net
losses were attributable to common stockholderss&yuent to the CompasyfPO and the automatic conversion of the outstandonvertible
preferred stock, the Company had no other particigpaecurities and the two-class method is nodomgplicable.

Basic net loss per share attributable to commorkbtuders is calculated by dividing net loss atttéble to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstandindgiéopériod. Diluted net loss per share attributatleommon stockholders is calculated by
dividing net loss attributable to common stockhodday the weighted average number of common slzanr@potential dilutive common share
equivalents outstanding during the period if tHedfis dilutive. The Company’s potentially diluthcommon shares include convertible notes
and convertible preferred stock prior to their carsion, outstanding stock options and warrantsramdvested restricted stock units.

The following table presents the potential commbarss outstanding that were excluded from the cdaipn of diluted net loss ¢
share attributable to common stockholders for #réops presented because including them would baga anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Convertible preferred stock — — 25,17:
Stock options to purchase common stock 8,19¢ 8,17¢ 6,25¢
Convertible notes — — 2,32¢
Unvested restricted stock units 381 24¢ —
Warrants to purchase common stock 30¢ 331 142
Convertible preferred stock warrants — — 21t
Total 8,88t 8,75:% 34,111

14. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company's chief operating decision maker isxthief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive O#ficreviews financial information
presented on a consolidated basis. The CompangriealBusiness activity, which entails the designetiment, manufacture and sale of
microinverter systems for the solar photovoltadustry. There are no segment managers who areabetdintable for operations, operating
results or plans for levels or components belowctiresolidated unit level. Accordingly, managemeas Hetermined that the Company has a
single operating and reportable segment.
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The following tables present net revenues (baseati@destination of shipments) and long-lived asbgtgeographic region as of and for
the periods presented (in thousands):

Net Revenues

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $ 192,88: $ 189,71: $ 128,69:
International 39,96¢ 26,96 20,83:
Total $ 232,84t $ 216,67 $ 149,52:

Long-Lived Assets

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $ 16,26: $ 17,13¢  $ 11,19¢
China 7,13( 6,642 5,97¢
Other 1,461 1,76: 1,23¢
Total $ 24,85: $ 25,54. $ 18,41

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

KPCB Holdings, Inc. ("KPCB"), as nominee for centfiinds of Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers, owraggproximately 11 percent of
the Company's outstanding stock as of Decembe2@®13 . Revenues recognized from sales of microtar®to entities that are majority-
owned by KPCB entities in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 &€ million , $16.8 million and $6.4 million ,gpectively.
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Net revenues

Cost of revenue®

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other expense, net

Loss before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

Net revenues

Cost of revenue®

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other expense, net

Loss before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statemfentsdescription of changes in estimates reltdesarranty
expense in 2013 and 2012.

ENPHASE ENERGY, INC.

Quarterly Financial Information
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Quarters Ended for Fiscal 2013

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
$ 45577 $ 58,167 $ 62,04¢ 67,05¢
33,37¢ 41,88: 44,61 45,56(
12,20: 16,28 17,43¢ 21,49¢
9,02¢ 8,48¢ 8,29: 8,721
6,85( 7,36¢ 8,55( 8,31t
6,03¢ 5,92¢ 5,937 6,071
21,91: 21,77" 22,78( 23,107
(9,71)) (5,49)) (5,34%) (1,61))
(519 (787) (81%) (783
(10,229 (6,272 (6,160) (2,392
(182) (124) (147) (416)
$ (10,406 $ (6,396 $ (6,307) (2,810
$ (0.2 $ (0.15) $ (0.15) (0.09)

Quarters Ended for Fiscal 2012

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

$ 42,600 $ 55,697 $ 60,81 57,56¢
33,29 42,09¢ 44,48¢ 41,51:

9,301 13,60: 16,32« 16,05¢

7,84: 8,65¢ 10,57: 8,53¢

5,04¢ 6,36( 7,03¢ 7,52¢

5,69¢ 6,091 6,911 6,17

18,581 21,10¢ 24,52 22,23t

(9,280 (7,505) (8,197) (6,179

(839) (3,729 (580) (1,25¢)

(10,119 (11,239 (8,777) (7,43))

(65) (151) (130) (30%)

$ (10,18) $ (11,389 $ (8,907 (7,742
$ (5.97) $ (029 $ (0.22) (0.19)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exglahct, under the supervision and with the paréitign of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, of the efftiveness of the design and operation of ouralsek controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the drileoperiod covered by this report. Based oneliuation, our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer concluded that aisclosure controls and procedures were effectiyerdvide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in tygorts that we file or submit under the Exchangeid\cecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commission’s rules and f@masto provide reasonable assurance
that such information is accumulated and commuedtéd our management, including our principal exgewfficer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisioagarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaimg adequate internal control over financiglaxing in providing reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdoging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, as défindRule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Managentast assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013 based on criteria set forth in hae€ontrol Integrated Framework issued
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theativay Commission (1992 framework). As a resuthsf assessment, management
concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, our iaterontrol over financial reporting was effective.

We are an "emerging growth company" as definetiénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBSA&ch result, we are exen
from the auditor attestation requirements relateidtiernal controls over financial reporting punsuto Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
In addition, for as long as we remain an “emergjrgvth company,” we will continue to be exempt fréime auditor attestation requirement in
the assessment of the effectiveness of our intearatol over financial reporting through the eridiscal 2017.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control éwamncial reporting that occurred during the mestemt fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2013 that materially affected, oreasonably likely to materially affect, our intereantrol over financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and intexmrarol over financial reporting are designed tovide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives as specified above. Manaent does not expect, however, that our disatosomtrols and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent ortdet all errors and fraud. Any control system, retter how well designed and operated, is
based upon certain assumptions and can providereaspnable, not absolute, assurance that itstolgsavill be met. Further, no evaluation
controls can provide absolute assurance that rtesséats due to error or fraud will not occur ortthidcontrol issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers and Corpmate Governance

The information required regarding our directormiorporated herein by reference from the infoiomatontained in the section
entitled “Proposal 1-Election of Directors” in adefinitive Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Megtf Stockholders (our “Proxy
Statement”), a copy of which will be filed with tisecurities and Exchange Commission on or beford 3@, 2014 .

The information required regarding our executiviécefs is incorporated herein by reference fromittiermation contained in the
section entitled “Management” in our Proxy Statemen

The information required regarding Section 16(ajdfieial ownership reporting compliance is incorged by reference from the
information contained in the section entitled “$@cttl6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complidhioeour Proxy Statement.

The information required with respect to procedumgsvhich security holders may recommend nomineesit board of directors, ai
the composition of our Audit Committee, and whetlverhave an “audit committee financial expert,ihisorporated by reference from the
information contained in the section entitled “Infation Regarding the Board of Directors and CaxpoGovernancet our Proxy Statemer

Code of Conduct

We have a written code of conduct that applieditoua executive officers, directors and employdgasr Code of Conduct is available
on our website dtttp://investor.enphase.com/governance.cficopy of our Code of Conduct may also be obwiinee of charge by writing
to our Assistant Secretary, Enphase Energy, 1420 N. McDowell Blvd., Petaluma, CA 94954. If we keaany substantive amendments to
our Code of Conduct or grant any waiver from a giown of the Code of Conduct to any executive effior director, we intend to promptly
disclose the nature of the amendment or waivenomwebsite.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required regarding the compensatibour directors and executive officers is incagied herein by reference fri
the information contained in the sections entitlEdecutive Compensation,” “Director CompensatiofCbmpensation Committee Repogic
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsideriBigdtion” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required regarding security owngrsif our 5% or greater stockholders and of ouediors and management is
incorporated herein by reference from the infororationtained in the section entitled “Security Owgh@ of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in our Proxy Statement.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information required regarding securities atifeal for issuance under our equity compensatiangis incorporated herein by
reference from the information contained in thetisacentitled “Employee Benefit Plans” in our ProRjatement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence
The information required regarding related trarisast is incorporated herein by reference from thf@rimation contained in tl

section entitled “Transactions With Related Pers@msl, with respect to director independence, thetisn entitled “Proposal Election o
Directors” in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required is incorporated herein reyerence from the information contained in thetises entitled Principa
Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approvalcksl and Procedures” in the section entitled “Begh 2Ratification of Selection
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”im Broxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
Consolidated Financial Statements
The information concerning our consolidated finahstatements, and Report of Independent Regisiubtic Accounting Firm
required by this Item is incorporated by refereheeein to the section of this Annual Report on FaGK in Item 8,Consolidated Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data

No schedules are provided because they are ndtablg, not required under the instructions, orruested information is showr
the financial statements or related notes thereto.

Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying index thibits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized on March 4, 2014 .

Enphase Energy, Inc.

By: /s/ PAUL B. NAHI

Paul B. Nahi
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persoroat signature appears below constitutes and ageaul B. Nahi ar
Kris Sennesael, jointly and severally, as his tod lawful attorneys-ifiact and agents, with full power of substitutiordaesubstitution, fc
him and in his name, place and stead, in any drehphcities, to sign any and all amendments ® Amnual Report on Form 10-and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other doeots in connection therewith, with the Securiiesl Exchange Commission, granting 1
said attorneys-irfiact and agents full power and authority to do pedorm each and every act and thing requisiteeoessary to be done in :
about the premises hereby ratifying and confirmalighat said attorneys-ifact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes; lawfully do o
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacitieshendates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ PAUL B. NAHI President and Chief Executive Officer (PrincipabEntive March 4, 2014
Paul B. Nahi Officer)
/s/ KRIS SENNESAEL Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Priradip March 4, 2014
Kris Sennesael Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl NEAL DEMPSEY Director March 4, 2014

Neal Dempsey

/s STEVEN J. GOMO Director March 4, 2014
Steven J. Gomo

/sl BENJAMIN KORTLANG Director March 4, 2014
Benjamin Kortlang

/sl JAMESON J. MCJUNKIN Director March 4, 2014
Jameson J. McJunkin

/sl RICHARD MORA Director March 4, 2014
Richard Mora

/sl ROBERT SCHWARTZ Director March 4, 2014
Robert Schwartz

/s/ JOHN H. WEBER Director March 4, 2014
John H. Weber
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioErphase Energy, In&)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Enphase Energy@Iinc.

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Enphase Enéngy®

4.2 2010 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreeimeand between Enphase Energy, Inc. and thetoselisted on
Exhibit A thereto, dated March 15, 2010, as amended

4.4 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Enphase Ernemyand Compass Horizon Funding Company LLC, ddacch 11, 2010.
®

4.5 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Enphase Ernemyand Horizon Technology Finance CorporatiottedaMarch 25, 2011.
®

4.6 Warrant Agreement to Purchase Stock, between EpfBiasrgy, Inc. and Hercules Technology Growth @Géginc., dated June
13,2011%®

4.7 Form of June 2011 Warrant to Purchase Common StbEkphase Energy, Inc., pursuant to that certaimeAded and Restated
Subordinated Convertible Loan Facility and Secusityeement®

4.8 Form of November 2011 Warrant to Purchase CommocokSif Enphase Energy, Inc., pursuant to that teAemended and
Restated Subordinated Convertible Loan Facility @adurity Agreement?

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweeplase Energy, Inc. and each of its directors aficeos$.®

10.2 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and retiwedments® *

10.3 2011 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreemlesitetunder® *

10.4 2011 Employee Stock Purchase PI&r.

10.5 Offer Letter by and between Enphase Energy, Ind.Raul B. Nahi, dated January 1, 2007, as amefitled.

10.8 Offer Letter by and between Enphase Energy, Ind.Jaff Loebbaka, dated April 19, 2019.

10.9 Employment Agreement by and between Enphase Enkrgyand Raghuveer R. Belur, dated March 21, 288@&mended®

10.10 Amended and Restated Venture Loan and Securityehgeat by and between Enphase Energy, Inc., Hofizachnology
Finance Corporation and Horizon Credit | LLC, dakéarch 25, 2011, as amendé&.

10.11 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreemeantpetween Enphase Energy, Inc., Bridge BankpRatAssociation
and Comerica Bank, dated March 24, 2011, as amefided

10.12 Loan and Security Agreement by and between Enpiassgy, Inc. and Hercules Technology Growth Capited., dated June
13, 2011, as amend€d.

10.13 Waterfront Office Building Full Service Lease byddmetween Enphase Energy, Inc. and Petaluma THeastméct, LLC, dated
February 3, 2008, as amend&d.

10.14 Redwood Business Park NNN Lease by and betweendsedbnergy, Inc. and Sequoia Center LLC, dated 3up@11 (1400
North McDowell Boulevard), as amendéd.

10.15 Redwood Business Park NNN Lease by and betweendsedbnergy, Inc. and Sequoia Center LLC, dated 3up@11 (1420
North McDowell Boulevard), as amendéd.

10.16 Cooperation Agreement “AC cabling system for saéero-inverter” by and among Enphase Energy, laed Phoenix Contact
GmbH & Co. KG and Phoenix Contact USA, Inc., debettember 7, 201®

10.17 Flextronics Logistics Services Agreement by anadveen Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics Ametit€, dated May 1,
2009.@7

10.18 Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by betiveen Enphase Energy, Inc. and Flextronics nadld_td., dated
March 1, 2009, as amendéd!

10.19 Master Development and Production Agreement bybtateeen Enphase Energy, Inc. and Fujitsu Microedaats America,
Inc., dated August 19, 2009."

10.20 License and Technology Transfer Agreement by amdden Enphase Energy, Inc. and Ariane Controls, ttated December
21, 200791

10.21 Software License Agreement by and between PVI &wist Inc. (subsequently known as Enphase Enengy), &nd DCD,
Digital Core Design, dated May 8, 2007, as amen@éd.

10.23 Executive Severance Agreement by and between Eephsergy, Inc. and Paul B. Nahi, dated June 141 291

10.26 Change in Control and Severance Agreement by aiwekbe Enphase Energy, Inc. and Jeff Loebbaka, dateel 14, 20119+

10.27 Executive Severance Agreement by and between Eefthaergy, Inc. and Raghuveer R. Belur, dated Jd4ng2a11.®*

10.28 Non-employee Director Compensation Polityt

10.38 Loan and Security Modification Agreement betweeid@e Bank, National Association, Comerica Bank, Enghase Energy,

Inc. dated June 29, 2012,
10.39 Third Amendment of Amended and Restated Venturenlaoal Securitv Aareement bv and amona Horizon Teldmv Finance



10.40

10.41
10.42

10.43
10.44
10.47

10.48

10.49
10.50
10.51

21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

1)
)
®3)
(4)
®)
(6)
()
(8)
9)

Corporation, Horizon Credit | LLC, and Enphase Eyeinc., dated June 29,2012.

Second Amendment to Redwood Business Park NNN |easeeen Enphase Energy, Inc. & Sequoia Center, diatd July 3,
2012.©

Separation Agreement, dated August 6, 2012, bybathdleen Sanjeev Kumar and Enphase Energy®hc.

Amendment No. 4 to Loan and Security Agreemengdlidtily 27, 2012, by and between Hercules TechpaBrgwth Capital,
Inc. and Enphase Energy, 1.

Offer Letter by and between Enphase Energy, Ind.Kais Sennesael, dated September 17, 2812.

Offer Letter by and between Enphase Energy, Ind.Stephen Lapointe, dated July 31, 20%22.

Credit Agreement by and among the lenders idedtifie the signature pages thereof, Wells Fargo Bk, as an agent for
the lenders, and Enphase Energy, Inc. dated Novemi2©12

Loan and Security Agreement by and between Engbasegy, Inc., certain of it subsidiaries and Hegsul'echnology Growth
Capital, Inc. dated November 7, 20£2.

2013 Performance Bonus Program Summéty.

Severance and Change in Control Benefit Plan.

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement by and betwemphase Energy, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, Natiésabciation, date
February 14, 2014.

List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Rieged Public Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference todlgmature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaotRule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section@ 85 Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

XBRL Instance Document.**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documte

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurttén

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document.**

Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Curr&sport on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35480), filed fvthe Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 6, 2012, and incorfeatdy reference herein.

Previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to Amendmerd.N to the Registration Statement on Form S-1ike (Ro. 333-174925), filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Mag&; 2012, and incorporated by reference herein.

Previously filed as the like-numbered exhibithe Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Fite 8383-174925), and
incorporated herein by reference.

Previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regitibn Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 38R8382), filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on May 14, 2012, and incorpdrherein by reference.

Previously filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Regitibn Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 38R8382), filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on May 14, 2012, and incorpdrherein by reference.

Previously filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Regitibn Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 38R8:382), filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on May 14, 2012, and incorpdrherein by reference.

Previously filed as as the like numbered eitlidthe Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File N61635480), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 8, 2013.

Previously filed as the like numbered exhibithe Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. (BB480), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 18 28nd incorporated by reference herein.

Previously filed as the like numbered exhibithe Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. (BB480), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembe2d13, and incorporated by reference herein.

(10) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Cumtr&®eport on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35480), fileittwthe Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 13, 2012, and pacated by reference herein.

(11) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Cumr&®eport on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35480), fileittwthe Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 13, 2012, and acated by reference herein.

(12) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Cumtr&®eport on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35480), fileittwthe Securities and

Exchange Commission on January 29, 2013, and incatgd by reference herein.

(13) Previously filed as the like numbered exhibithe Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001488), filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on Februar2as}.



*%

Management compensatory plan or arrangel

Material in the exhibit marked with a “***” haseen omitted pursuant to a request for confidetrgattment filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Omitted pastimve been filed separately with the SecuritiesErchange
Commission.

The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 anpany this quarterly report on Form 10-K pursuarit U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl@rkes- Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed “filbg’"Enphase Energy,
Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the Securitiesiange Act of 1934, as amended.

Pursuant to applicable securities laws and fations, Enphase Energy, Inc. is deemed to havepedwith the reporting
obligation relating to the submission of interaetdlata files in such exhibits and are not subtability under any anti-
fraud provisions of the federal securities laws$oag) as Enphase Energy, Inc. has made a goodafatimpt to comply with
the submission requirements and promptly amenihteeactive data files after becoming aware thatititeractive data files
fail to comply with the submission requirementsattordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, tifermation in these
exhibits is furnished and deemed not filed or d pha registration statement or prospectus foppses of Sections 11 or 12
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is delemo¢filed for purposes of Section 18 of the ExamAct of 1934, as
amended, and otherwise is not subject to liabiliiger these sections and shall not be incorpotatedference into any
registration statement or other document filed utide Securities Act of 1933, as amended, excepkpessly set forth by
specific reference in such filing.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Enphase Energy Australia Pty. Ltd., an Australiarporation.
Enphase Energy Canada, Inc., a Canadian corporation
Enphase Energy S.A.S., a French corporation.

Enphase Energy S.r.l., an Italian corporation.

Enphase Energy New Zealand Limited, a New Zealangazation.
Enphase Energy UK Limited, a United Kingdom corpiora

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRReggion Statement Nos. 333-181382 and 333-18005Form S8 of our report date
March 4, 2014 , with respect to the consolidatedritial statements of Enphase Energy, Inc. anddiaties appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Enphase Energy, Inc. for the yemtesl December 31, 2013.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 4, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

[, Paul B. Nahi, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL.@f Enphase Energy, In

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omstéde a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theooks presented in this report;

4.The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as det
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Herregistrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitge designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) [Reserved]

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentinisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt's internal control over financial reportihgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regiss fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5.The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anabalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimtiernal control over financial reportii
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitifiethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent functions):

(@  All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cébotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaize report financial
information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 4, 2014

/s/ Paul B. Nahi

Paul B. Nahi
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Kris Sennesael, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL.@f Enphase Energy, In

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omstéde a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theooks presented in this report;

4.The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as det
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Herregistrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitge designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) [Reserved]

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati$slosure controls and procedures and presentinisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt's internal control over financial reportihgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regiss fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5.The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anabalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimtiernal control over financial reportii
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitifiethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent functions):

(@  All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cébotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaize report financial
information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 4, 2014

/sl Kris Sennesael

Kris Sennesael
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@}lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated, (the "Exchange Act") and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Udiftates Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Paul B. Nahi,itRrasand Chief Executive Officer of
Enphase Energy, Inc. (the "Company"), and Kris &saal, Vice President and Chief Financial Offidethe Company, each hereby certifies
that, to the best of his knowledge:

1.The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for theush period ended December 31, 2013, to whichGeigification is attached as
Exhibit 32.1 (the "Report"), fully complies withelrequirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhefExchange Act; and

2.The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set their hands heretotag dfth day of March, 2014 .

/s/ Paul B. Nahi /sl Kris Sennesael
Paul B. Nahi Kris Sennesael
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is r
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Bage Energy, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1833amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before er tifé date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of gayeral incorporation language containes
in such filing.



